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HIGHLIGHTS

 
• Record sales production for the fourth quarter averaging 4,642 barrels of oil equivalent per 

day (“boe/d”), a five per cent increase per debt adjusted share from 4,073 boe/d in the fourth 
quarter of 2012. Annual production for 2013 was 4,079 boe/d, a ten per cent increase per 
debt adjusted share over 2012.

 
• Realized cash flow from operations of $8.3 million, a 30 per cent decrease per debt adjusted 

share from $11.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2012 as a result of wider heavy oil 
differentials.  Heavy oil differentials continue to be volatile, with the outlook for 2014 at the 
time of this publication to be materially narrower compared to the fourth quarter of 2013.

• Fourth quarter operating costs, including transportation, were $16.72 per boe, bringing 2013 
total year costs to $17.90 per boe, well within company guidance. These strong numbers reflect 
continued focus on disciplined field operations combined with the operating advantages 
associated with managing corporate assets that produce approximately 80 per cent from low 
cost horizontal wells. Guidance for 2014 includes further improvement in costs with annual 
expectations of $17.00 to $18.00 per boe.

• Execution of an active drilling program in 2013 with a total of 47 gross (42 net) wells 
drilled at a 98 per cent success rate, including drilling into three new formations, Maidstone 
Cummings, Wildmere Cummings and Vermilion Sparky.  All of these new plays have been 
proven successful and have added material undeveloped inventory to the Company. Gear 
will focus on testing several new low risk plays in 2014 to further build future inventory.

 
• Four horizontal wells were drilled in Gear’s new core area in Maidstone Cummings during 

the fourth quarter completed a nine well program executed throughout 2013. All nine 
wells were on production at year-end and were contributing approximately 700 boe per 
day, compared to no production from this area the prior year. The results from these wells 
strongly support further development in the area and as such approximately 12 horizontal 
and up to four vertical drills are currently planned in 2014.

 
• Two horizontal wells were drilled in Gear’s second new core area in Wildmere Cummings 

with initial average 30 day rates of 90 barrels per day. As a result of improved completion 
techniques these rates are 30 per cent higher than the two Wildmere Cummings drills 
completed earlier in the year. This new core area makes up 65 potential wells out of total 
company drilling inventory of 230 locations. Gear’s current 2014 capital plan includes 
drilling approximately seven horizontal wells into this area.

• Gear increased heavy oil amenable land holdings by investing $1.2 million during the fourth 
quarter bringing the 2013 total to $2.3 million spent on over 2,600 hectares of new prospective 
lands in Alberta and Saskatchewan. Management is committed to further expanding organic 
production growth opportunities and as such has dedicated 20 per cent of Gear’s 2014 budget 
to land, seismic and exploration activity.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
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The intention was to provide broader market exposure 
and recognition to a story that we have always been very 
enthusiastic about. We made the transition on November 
18, 2013 in a very unique way by pursuing our public listing 
without raising any new equity.  The most common question 
I answered at the time was, “why did Gear not raise money 
on the IPO?” The simple answer is, “we did not need the 
money”.  We had successfully grown the company for three 
years without raising any material equity; we had industry 
leading costs, a strong balance sheet and a deep inventory of 
opportunities to continue to grow into the future. Now that we 
are public the value of Gear’s equity has materially improved, 
and the technical team is very excited about the opportunities 
they see to leverage our expertise towards increased value 
creation opportunities, both organic and through acquisitions. 
We are very optimistic about our ability to successfully execute 
on more aggressive value creation ideas beyond the current 
diversified multi-year inventory of low risk primary and EOR 
prospects.

When I look back over the last few years, I am pleased with the 
results the Gear team has provided to its shareholders. Most 
significantly, an estimated growth of compound annual cash 
flow per debt adjusted share of over 50 per cent. Our other 
key value measures of reserves, reserves value and production 
have also shown material growth per debt adjusted share. 
While measuring performance on a per debt adjusted share 
basis may be uncommon, we believe it is the most transparent 
and effective way to acknowledge the impact of debt and 
equity in gauging true value creation. One of the key strategies 
to providing this growth was unlocked back in late 2010 when 
the Gear technical team started the push towards systematic 
horizontal development of large scale heavy oil reservoirs. 
Now, almost four years later, more than 80 per cent of 
corporate production is sourced from horizontal wells. There 
are multiple benefits to this situation, including: high per well 
oil rates with low sand production, superior pump run lives, 
predictable declines, high density development with low cost 
infrastructure, and probably most exciting of all, material 
inventories of new horizontal opportunities providing years 
of primary and EOR development potential. None of our 
peers can currently compete with the percentage of horizontal 
production that we have at Gear and we hope to keep it that 
way for a long time.

Overall I am pleased with the significant expansion of 
opportunities the Gear team has accomplished. While 
focused very much on heavy oil, there is still a comfortable 
diversity of primarily horizontal opportunities that all 
appear to be demonstrating early economic results and 
material depth of inventory. As we move into 2014 I 
am encouraged that the team is not resting on previous 
successes, they have targeted at least five potential new 
heavy oil core areas that will be drilled throughout the 
year. Stay tuned for updates.

A real point of pride for me is the fact that Gear exited the 
year with one of the lowest heavy oil operating costs of all 
Canadian publically traded heavy oil operators, including 
companies over 10 times our size. This accomplishment 
was hard fought in an industry where many of our peers 
are struggling with costs that almost double ours, (most of 
them producing primarily from vertical wells).  Achieving 
and maintaining this benchmark is critical to Gear’s future 
success. Low costs are absolutely essential to ensure that 
our capital projects are more economic than our peers, to 
provide a competitive advantage when pursuing crown 
and assets sales, to assist us in weathering any future 
commodity price volatility and to ensure that we can 
continue to deliver real value growth to our shareholders. 
Our 2014 plan includes another estimated reduction in 
the cost profile of the company and coupled with a healthy 
outlook for heavy oil pricing we are excited to see what 
value we can provide to shareholders over the next few 
years.

The vision for Gear’s future is straightforward: 

Create real value per debt adjusted share by building and 
growing a focused heavy oil asset with significant primary 
and secondary production potential as we establish 
ourselves as the best heavy oil operator in Canada.

We will continue to work hard to make this vision a reality.

On behalf of myself, the team at Gear and the Board of 
Directors, I want to thank our shareholders for their 
continued support of our vision.

Kind Regards,

Ingram Gillmore, President and CEO

I am pleased to introduce 
Gear’s first ever annual 
report. There are many 
positive points I would 
like to highlight about the 
history and the future of 
the company. Last year was 
an exciting one for Gear. 
After another year of strong 
operating results we made 
the strategic decision to take 
the company public. 



Twelve months ended
(Cdn$ thousands, except per boe amounts) Dec 31, 2013 Dec 31, 2012
Financial
Cash flow from operations 35,103 33,693

   Per weighted average basic and diluted share 0.65 0.62
Cash flow from operating activities 39,511 36,226
   Per weighted average basic and diluted share 0.73 0.67
Net (loss) income (1,059) 547
   Per weighted average basic and diluted share (0.02) 0.01
Capital expenditures 53,559 45,504
Net acquisitions (92) 1,750
Net debt outstanding 67,148 47,926
Shares outstanding, weighted average, basic 53,932 53,748
Shares outstanding, weighted average, diluted 54,158 53,748
Operating
Production
   Oil and gas liquids (bbl/d) 3,786 3,152
   Natural gas (mcf/d) 1,757 1,946
   Total (boe/d) 4,079 3,476

Average prices
   Oil and gas liquids ($/bbl) 69.18 66.13
   Natural gas ($/mcf) 3.11 2.36
   Oil equivalent ($/boe) 65.47 61.28
Netback ($/boe)
   Commodity and other sales 65.55 61.34
   Royalties 15.27 14.16
   Operating costs 17.90 17.32
   Operating netback (before hedging) 32.38 29.86
   Realized risk management (losses) gains (3.41) 1.38
   Operating netback (after hedging) 28.80 31.24
   General and administrative 3.94 3.47
   Interest 1.46 1.33
   Corporate netback 23.57 26.44
Trading Statistics  ($ based on intra-day trading)
High 3.55 n/a
Low 2.55 n/a
Close 3.23 n/a
Average daily volume (thousands) 374 n/a
(1) Cash flow from operations and net debt are non-GAAP measures and are reconciled to the nearest GAAP measures under the heading “Non-GAAP Measures” in Gear’s MD&A
(2) Net acquisitions exclude non-cash items for the decommissioning liability and deferred taxes and is net of post-closing adjustments

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Wildmere Lloyd C pool

Wildmere Lloyd sand channel

Shale channel
2013 Drills
2014 Plan

Since 2010, Wildmere Lloyd has been Gear’s most prolific 
property. For the past few years, Gear has drilled over 100 
horizontal heavy oil wells with 98 per cent drilling success.  
In 2013, Wildmere Lloyd accounted for 75 per cent of total 
production. The pool has a very well-defined pool boundary 
and a statistically reliable type-curve. Gear has approximately 
18 drills planned for 2014 in the area. In September 2012, Gear 
commenced a horizontal polymer injection pilot project and 
in January 2013, commenced a horizontal waterflood pilot 
project. To date, all indicators have been positive, with no 
early breakthrough and continuous pressure increases on the 
injection wells. Gear expects to communicate plans this year 
on the potential for future commercial enhanced oil recovery.  
Management believes there is potential for significant value 
creation, with primary recovery of the Wildmere Lloyd pool 
estimated at 10 per cent and comparable estimated analogue 
recovery factor of a similar heavy oil pool under vertical 
waterflood of 20 per cent.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Wildmere Cummings is a new heavy oil pool 
just southeast of Gear’s Wildmere Lloyd pool. Over 
the last few years, Gear acquired numerous sections 
through crown land sales. In the past, this property 
was vertically drilled with limited success. Well logs 
have shown that a large reservoir exists and Gear has 
now applied horizontal drilling to successfully unlock 
oil from the Cummings zone. To date, five wells have 
been drilled with five or more wells planned in 2014.  
Based on drilling results to date, Gear believes it has 65 
potential drilling locations and expects to further de-
risk the pool as it drills extension wells to the east. As 
in the Wildmere Lloyd pool, Gear is applying various 
techniques to assess optimal drilling, completions and 
EOR techniques to maximize recovery and ultimate 
profitability from the Wildmere Cummings play.

In December 2012, Gear acquired various lands 
in Saskatchewan through a receivership sale for 
approximately $4 million. The primary focus was two 
and a half sections of land proven up by a number of 
heavy oil wells drilled by various other parties into the 
Cummings zone. Nine successful wells were drilled in 
2013 and 14 to 16 wells are planned in 2014. Gear is 
also targeting a second zone in the Waseca through 
vertical drilling and reactivations. Results have 
been positive to date and Gear is closely watching 
a competitor’s waterflood project adjacent to Gear’s 
lands. The competitor’s application has targeted a 30 per 
cent recovery factor with their Cummings horizontal 
waterflood.
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Wildmere Cummings pool

Shale Channel

2013 Drills
2014 Plan

Maidstone 
Cummings pool

2013 Drills
2014 Plan

Waseca well 
IP90 = 80bbl/d
2 follow-ups



RESERVES SUMMARY

Summary of Corporation Oil and Gas Reserves
Forecast Prices and Costs
As of December 31, 2013

Light and Medium Oil Heavy Oil Natural Gas Natural Gas liquids Total
Reserves 
Category

 Gross
 (Mbbl)

Net
(Mbbl)

 Gross
 (Mbbl)

Net
(Mbbl)

Gross
(MMcf)

Net
(MMcf)

Gross
(Mbbl)

Net
(Mbbl)

Gross
(MBOE)

Net
(MBOE)

Proved Developed
   Producing - 1.9 5,375 4,474 1,579 1,482 10 8 5,649 4,731
   Non-Producing - - 19 16 1,403 1,277 1 1 254 230
Proved
   Undeveloped - - 2,288 2,000 4,140 3,770 60 43 3,037 2,672

Total Proved - 1.9 7,682 6,490 7,122 6,529 71 53 8,941 7,633

Probable - 1.4 5,160 4,403 8,359 7,262 161 124 6,715 5,739

Total Proved plus Probable - 3.2 12,843 10,894 15,481 13,791 233 176 15,655 13,372
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RESERVES SUMMARY

Net Present Value of Future Net Revenue

Before Income Taxes 
Discounted at 

(%/year)

After Income Taxes 
Discounted at 

(%/year)

Unit Value 
Before 

Income Tax 
Discounted 

at  
10%/year

Reserves 
Category

 0
 (MM$)

5
(MM$)

10
 (MM$)

15
(MM$)

20
(MM$)

0
(MM$)

5
(MM$)

10
(MM$)

15
(MM$)

20
(MM$) ($/BOE)

Proved Developed
   Producing 186.0 163.2 145.5 131.5 120.2 186.0 163.2 145.5 131.5 120.2 30.74
   Non-Producing 1.8 1.5 1.2 1.1 0.9 1.8 1.5 1.2 1.1 0.9 5.43
Proved
   Undeveloped 58.7 45.1 35.0 27.5 21.7 47.3 35.6 27.0 20.6 15.7 13.11

Total Proved 246.4 209.7 181.7 160.0 142.8 235.1 200.2 173.7 153.1 136.8 23.81

Probable 173.1 123.9 92.3 71.0 56.0 134.0 93.5 68.0 51.0 39.1 16.09

Total Proved plus Probable 419.6 333.6 274.0 231.0 198.8 369.1 293.7 241.6 204.0 175.9 20.49

Corporate NAV Calculation
2012 2013

($ millions) P+P P+P Change (P+P)
Reserve Value BT10% 193.1 274.0 80.9
Seismic 11.9 12.4 0.5
Undeveloped land 12.1 7.5 (4.6)
Income tax asset 13.4 12.6 (0.8)
Risk management contracts (0.1) (2.1) (2.0)
ARO (2.4) (9.1) (6.7)
Net debt (47.9) (67.1) (19.2)
Total 180.1 228.2 48.1
Shares outstanding (millions) 53.9 54.0 0.1
NAV per share 3.34 4.23 0.88
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RESERVES SUMMARY

Finding and Development Costs (1)

Total Proved Total Proved plus Probable
 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

Total Net Capital Expenditures ($ millions) (2) 53.466 47.254 58.401 53.466 47.254 58.401
Total Net Capital Expenditures Plus Change in Forecast Future 
   Development Costs ($ millions) 72.355 49.753 66.414 66.099 84.744 75.297
Total Proved Developed Producing Reserves (mmboe)
   Open 7.270 6.810 5.911 13.435 11.202 9.608
   Discoveries and Extensions 2.979 2.049 1.723 3.760 3.798 2.812
   Acquisitions and Dispositions - 0.070 0.408 - 0.385 0.423
   Revisions 0.178 (0.394) (0.370) (0.054) (0.685) (0.768)
   Production (1.486) (1.265) (0.839) (1.486) (1.265) (0.839)
   Close 8.941 7.270 6.834 15.655 13.435 11.237
   Addition 3.157 1.725 1.761 3.706 3.498 2.467
Proved Developed Producing F&D Costs ($/boe) 16.97 27.50 28.06 14.45 14.62 18.57
Proved Developed Producing F&D Costs ($/boe) (w/FDC) 22.95 28.97 33.48 17.86 24.75 27.70
Proved Developed Producing FD&A Costs ($/boe) 16.94 27.39 33.16 14.43 13.51 23.67
Proved Developed Producing FD&A Costs ($/boe) (w/FDC) 22.92 28.84 37.71 17.84 24.23 30.52

(1) The aggregate of the exploration, development and acquisition costs incurred in the most recent financial year and the change during that year in estimated future                  
development costs generally will not reflect total finding, development and acquisition costsrelated to reserves additions for that year
(2) Amounts exlude additions for administrative assets
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RESERVES SUMMARY

2013 Reconciliation of Company Interest Gross Proved Producing Reserves at December 31, 2013

 Oil
(Mbbl)

 Natural Gas
(Mmcf)

NGL’s
(Mbbl)

 Oil Equivalent
(Mboe)

Opening balance January 1, 2013 4,423 2,909 9 4,917
Technical Revisions (35) (686) 6 (143)
Exploration Discoveries 61 - - 61
Drilling Extensions 2,139 - - 2,139
Improved Recovery 163 - - 163
Production (1,373) (642) (5) (1,485)
Closing Balance December 31, 2013 5,377 1,580 10 5,651

2013 Reconciliation of Company Interest Gross Total Proved Reserves at December 31, 2013

 Oil
(Mbbl)

 Natural Gas
(Mmcf)

NGL’s
(Mbbl)

 Oil Equivalent
(Mboe)

Opening balance January 1, 2013 5,908 7,781 70 7,275
Technical Revisions 25 (15) 6 29
Exploration Discoveries 61 - - 61
Drilling Extensions 2,475 - - 2,475
Infill Drilling 443 - - 443
Improved Recovery 145 - - 145
Production (1,373) (643) (5) (1,485)
Closing Balance December 31, 2013 7,684 7,124 71 8,943

2013 Reconciliation of Company Interest Gross Proved Plus Probable Reserves at December 31, 2013

 Oil
(Mbbl)

 Natural Gas
(Mmcf)

NGL’s
(Mbbl)

 Oil Equivalent
(Mboe)

Opening balance January 1, 2013 10,509 16,213 232 13,443
Technical Revisions (274) (87) 6 (283)
Exploration Discoveries 76 - - 76
Drilling Extensions 3,018 - - 3,018
Infill Drilling 666 - - 666
Improved Recovery 223 - - 223
Production (1,373) (643) (5) (1,485)
Closing Balance December 31, 2013 12,846 15,483 233 15,659
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CORPORATE STRATEGY

Cold Flow, Pure Play, Conventional, Low Cost, Low Risk 
Heavy Oil Growth Company
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EOR
Multiple assets with successful analogs
Two current secondary recovery pilots

Low Debt
Current estimated 2014 net debt/cash flow

of approximately 0.1 – 0.2x

Real Value Growth
3 year CAGR per debt adjusted share
15% Production & 50% Cash Flow

Focused Heavy Oil Operator
80% Horizontal production

Low Costs
Industry leading heavy oil costs

230 
Low risk economic oil drilling 

opportunities
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) is Gear Energy Ltd. (“Gear” or the “Company”) management’s 
analysis of its financial performance.  It is dated March 4, 2014 and should be read in conjunction with the unaudited 
Financial Statements as at and for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2013 and the audited Financial 
Statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2013. Both statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
  
The MD&A contains non-generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) measures and forward-looking statements 
and readers are cautioned that the MD&A should be read in conjunction with Gear’s disclosure under “Non-GAAP 
Measures” and “Forward-Looking Statements” included at the end of this MD&A. All figures are in Canadian dollar 
thousands unless otherwise noted. 
 
ABOUT GEAR ENERGY LTD. 
 

Gear is a Canadian exploration and production company with predominantly heavy oil production in East Central Alberta 
and West Central Saskatchewan. Presently, Gear has 23 employees with 18 staff in the Calgary office and 4 employees 
located in Gear’s operating areas in Alberta, British Columbia, and Saskatchewan. Gear also has a number of contract 
operators in the field. The Company trades on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol GXE. 
 
Gear is return-driven with a focus on delivering per share growth by pursuing assets with the following characteristics: 

 Geographically focused 

 Definable resource base with low risk production 

 Repeatable projects that are statistically economic 

 Multiple producing horizons 

 Easy surface access and existing infrastructure 

 High operatorship 
 
Gear enhances returns of acquired assets by: 

 Drilling and developing on acquired lands 

 Focusing on operational and cost efficiencies 

 Continually improving operations through 
innovation and imitation 

 Adopting and refining advanced drilling and 
completing techniques 

 Pursuing strategic acquisitions with significant 
potential synergies 

 
2014 and 2013 GUIDANCE 

Table 1 summarizes 2014 and 2013 guidance estimates compared to 2013 YTD actual results. 
 
Table 1 

 Updated 2014 
Guidance 

Original 2014 
Guidance 

2013 Guidance YTD 2013 

Production – Annual (boe/d) 5,000 – 5,200 5,000 – 5,200 4,000 – 4,100 4,079 
Royalty rate (%) 18 – 20  17 – 18  21 23.3 
Operating costs ($/boe) 17.00 – 18.00 17.00 – 18.00 17.50 – 18.50 17.90 
General and administrative expense ($/boe)  3.40 – 3.60 3.40 – 3.60 3.90 3.94 
Interest expense ($/boe) 1.15 – 1.25 1.15 – 1.25 1.50 1.46 
Capital expenditures ($ millions) 70 70 53 53.6 

 
Guidance for 2014 has now been updated with a slightly higher royalty profile. The increase is due to a timing adjustment 
of drilling projects in 2014. 
 
METRICS 

Gear measures its performance on its ability to grow value on a debt adjusted per share basis. Table 2 details cash flow 
from operations, and production per debt adjusted share: 
 
Table 2 

 Three months ended  Twelve months ended 

 Dec31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

Sept 30, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

Cash flow from operations  
   per debt adjusted share 

(1)
 0.112 0.159 (30) 0.174 0.490 0.505 (3) 

Production, boepd  
   per debt adjusted thousand shares 

(1)
 0.062 0.059 5 0.057 0.057 0.052 10 

(1) Cash flow from operations per debt adjusted share is a non-GAAP measure and is reconciled to the nearest GAAP measure  
below under the heading “Non-GAAP Measures”. 

 

Growth for 2013 was muted relative to prior years as an outcome of consciously delaying drilling activity from early in the 
year during a quarter which yielded five year lows in realized heavy oil prices. Financial losses on WTI based commodity 
contracts also reduced year over year growth. 
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KEY PROPERTIES 
Wildmere Lloyd 

Since 2010, Wildmere Lloyd has been Gear’s most prolific property to date. For the past 3 years, Gear has drilled 
approximately 100 horizontal heavy oil wells with 98 per cent drilling success. In 2013, Wildmere Lloyd accounted for 75 
per cent of total production. With a very well-defined pool boundary and a statistically reliable type-curve, Gear has 18 
drills planned for 2014 in the area. In September 2012, Gear commenced a horizontal polymer pilot project and in January 
2013, commenced a horizontal waterflood pilot project. To date, all indicators have been positive, with no early 
breakthroughs and continuous pressure increases on the injection wells. Gear expects to communicate plans this year for 
future commercial enhanced oil recovery. Management believes there is potential for significant value creation, with 
primary recovery of the Wildmere Lloyd pool estimated at 10 per cent and comparable estimated analogue recovery factor 
of a similar heavy oil pool under vertical waterflood of 20 per cent. 
 
Wildmere Cummings 

The Wildmere Cummings is a heavy oil pool just southeast of Gear’s Wildmere Lloyd pool. In 2012, Gear acquired 
numerous sections through crown land sales. In the past, this property was vertically drilled with limited success. Well logs 
have shown that a large pool of oil exists and Gear has now applied horizontal drilling to successfully unlock oil from the 
Cummings zone. To date, five wells have been drilled with up to seven wells planned in 2014. Based on drilling results to 
date, Gear believes it has 65 potential drilling locations and expects to further de-risk the pool as it drills extension wells to 
the east. As in the Wildmere Lloyd pool, Gear is applying various techniques to assess optimal drilling, completions and 
EOR techniques to maximize recovery and ultimate profitability from the Wildmere Cummings play. 
 
Maidstone Cummings 

In December 2012, Gear acquired various lands through a receivership sale for approximately $4 million. The primary 
focus was two and a half sections of land proven up by a number of heavy oil wells drilled by various other parties into the 
Cummings zone. This was Gear’s official entry into Saskatchewan. Nine wells were drilled in 2013 and 14 to 16 wells are 
planned in 2014. Gear is also targeting a second zone in the Waseca through vertical drilling and reactivations. Results 
have been positive to date and Gear is closely watching a competitor’s waterflood project adjacent to Gear’s lands. The 
competitor’s application has targeted a 30 per cent recovery factor with the waterflood. 
 
Exploration 

Gear continues to focus on finding and developing new heavy oil resources through both organic means and acquisitions. 
In the last three years, Gear has acquired approximately 90 sections of heavy oil prospective land. Gear has been and 
continues to methodically assess the viability of these new lands with seismic and low risk exploratory drilling. In the last 
two years, Gear embarked on four exploration plays including the Wildmere Cummings and the Maidstone Cummings. 
Three of these four exploration plays have translated into commercial success and the fourth play is still being assessed. 
Approximately 20 per cent of Gear’s 2014 $70 million capital budget has been dedicated to continued inventory expansion 
including further low risk exploration wells, seismic, and land. These wells have been assessed as “lower risk” since Gear 
uses existing well logs and seismic prior to acquiring land. For 2014, four specific heavy oil exploration plays have been 
targeted. If successful, these four new exploration plays have the potential to add material inventory and value to Gear. 
  
2013 FOURTH QUARTER FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL RESULTS 

 
Cash flow from operations 

Cash flow from operations for the three months was $8.3 million, a decrease of $2.8 million from the same period in 2012. 
This decrease is attributable to increased losses on risk management contracts and increased royalty, operating and 
general and administrative expenses, offset by higher production volumes. 
 
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 cash flow from operations was $35.1 million, a $1.4 million increase 
over 2012. This increase is the result of stronger commodity prices and higher production volumes offset by increased 
losses on risk management contracts as well as increased royalty, operating and general and administrative expenses. 
The following table details the change in cash flow from operations for 2013 relative to 2012:  
 
Table 3 

 Three months ended Dec  31 Twelve months ended Dec 31 
 ($ thousands) $/Share ($ thousands) $/Share 

Q4 2012 Cash flow from operations (1) 11,099 0.21 33,693 0.62 

Volume variance 3,189 0.05 13,276 0.25 
Price variance (237) - 6,264 0.12 
Cash losses on risk management contracts (2,703) (0.05) (6,827) (0.13) 
Royalties (977) (0.02) (4,705) (0.08) 
Expenses:     
 Operating (1,393) (0.03) (4,610) (0.09) 
 General and administrative (627) (0.01) (1,516) (0.03) 
 Interest (42.0) - (472) (0.01) 

Q4 2013 Cash flow from operations (1) 8,309 0.15 35,103 0.65 

(1) Cash flow from operations is a non-GAAP measure and is reconciled to the nearest GAAP measure below under the heading 
“Non-GAAP Measures”. 



 

-13- 

 
Net income 

For the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2013, Gear generated net losses of $0.5 million and $1.1 million, 
respectively. This compares to net income of $1.1 million and $0.5 million for the same periods in 2012. The changes in 
net income are due to several factors discussed below.  
 
Production 

Production volumes averaged a record 4,642 boepd in the fourth quarter of 2013, compared to 4,073 boepd in the same 
period in 2012. Production volumes for the full year increased from 3,476 boepd in 2012 to 4,079 boepd in 2013. Strong 
well results from an active 2013 drilling program resulted in these production increases of 14 per cent and 17 per cent, 
respectively. More specifically, increased fourth quarter volumes are the result of third quarter drills being on production 
for the full quarter, as well as an additional 22 wells being brought on production. Gear’s production profile in Maidstone 
Saskatchewan has increased significantly in the fourth quarter with volumes in this area averaging 550 boepd, there was 
no production from this property in 2012. In 2014 Gear estimates that production in the Maidstone area will approximate a 
quarter of Gear’s total production profile. 
 
Table 4 

 Three months ended  Twelve months ended 

Production Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

Sept 30, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

Oil and NGL (bbl/d) 4,369 3,753 16 3,652 3,786 3,152 20 
Natural gas (mcf/d) 1,641 1,927 (15) 1,723 1,757 1,946 (10) 

Total production (boe/d) (1) 4,642 4,073 14 3,940 4,079 3,476 17 

% Oil and NGL production 94 92 2 93 93 91 2 
% Natural gas production 6 8 (25) 7 7 9 (22) 
(1) Reported production for a period may include minor adjustments from previous production periods. 

 
In the first quarter of 2014, production is expected to temporarily decrease as a result of delivery constraints to rail 
terminals due to cold weather in addition to many wells requiring shut-in of production to accommodate adjacent drilling. 
Gear commenced its 2014 capital program in the second week of January, drilling four well pad sites. Multi-well pad sites 
provide both increased capital and operating efficiency but result in delayed initial production and extended offset shut-ins 
as all four wells need to be drilled and completed prior to activation. Gear’s first four well pad site in 2014 is not expected 
to have oil sales until approximately March 2014. Despite this predicted decrease in first quarter 2014 production Gear 
remains on target to meet its 2014 production guidance of 5,000 to 5,200 boepd. 
 
Gear’s crude oil production consists predominantly of heavy oil which remains the strategic focus. At the end of the fourth 
quarter Gear shut-in 150 boepd of uneconomic gas production in the Bonnyville area and, as such, gas production is 
expected to continue to decline into 2014 with no new planned gas activity. Any associated gas with new wells is 
expected to be tied into Gear’s gas gathering system and used primarily to fuel oil production operations. 
 
Revenue 

Sales of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids for the fourth quarter of 2013 totaled $25.8 million, a 13 per cent 
increase over the fourth quarter 2012 sales of $22.8 million. This increase is the result of increased production volumes as 
Gear’s realized commodity price in these time periods remained relatively unchanged. Annual sales of crude oil, natural 
gas and natural gas liquids increased 25 per cent in 2013 compared to 2012. The year-over-year increase in revenue is 
attributable to increased production volumes as well as a modest increase in realized prices. A breakdown of sales by 
product is outlined in Table 5: 
 
Table 5 

Sales by product Three months ended Twelve months ended 
($ thousands) Dec 31, 

2013 
Dec 31, 

2012 
% 

Change 
Sept 30, 

2013 
Dec 31, 

2013 
Dec 31, 

2012 
% 

Change 
Oil and natural gas liquids 25,286 22,265 14 29,575 95,470 76,287 25 
Natural gas 472 555 (15) 401 1,992 1,681 19 

Total sales 25,758 22,820 13 29,976 97,462 77,968 25 
Other revenue 26 13 100 25 115 70 64 

Total revenue 25,784 22,833 13 30,001 97,577 78,038 25 
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Commodity Prices 
Table 6 

 Three months ended Twelve months ended 

Average Benchmark Prices Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

Sep 30, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

WTI oil (US$/bbl) 
(1)

 97.43 88.20 10 105.82 97.96 94.19 4 
Cdn$ / US$ exchange rate 1.05 0.99 6 1.03 1.03 1.00 3 
WTI oil (Cdn$/bbl) 102.30 87.42 17 108.99 100.90 94.10 7 
WCS differential (US$/bbl) (2) (32.20) (18.11) 78 (17.48) (25.03) (21.03) 19 

AECO natural gas ($/mcf) (3) 3.15 3.05 3 2.82 3.16 2.40 32 

Gear Realized Prices        
Oil and NGL ($/bbl) 62.91 64.50 (2) 88.01 69.18 66.13 5 
Natural gas ($/mcf) 3.12 3.13 - 2.53 3.11 2.36 32 

Total commodity price ($/boe) 60.31 60.89 (1) 82.70 65.47 61.28 7 
Other revenue ($/boe) 0.06 0.04 50 0.07 0.08 0.06 33 

Total revenue ($/boe) 60.37 60.93 (1) 82.77 65.55 61.34 7 
(1) WTI represents posting price of West Texas Intermediate oil.  
(2) WCS represents the differential between the average market price for the benchmark Western Canadian Select heavy oil and WTI. 
(3) Represents the AECO 7a monthly index 
 

While US denominated WTI prices for the fourth quarter increased by 10 per cent over the fourth quarter of 2012, the 
WCS differential widened from US$18.11 per barrel in the fourth quarter of 2012 to US$32.20 per barrel in the fourth 
quarter of 2013. These two opposing movements combined with the strengthening of the Canadian dollar resulted in 
Gears realized commodity price remaining relatively unchanged quarter over quarter. On a year-to-date basis US 
denominated WTI and the Canadian dollar exchange rate strengthened by four percent and three per cent, respectively. 
Conversely the WCS differential widened from US$21.03 in 2012 to US$25.03 in 2013. These movements resulted in an 
overall increase in Gear’s realized commodity price of seven per cent in 2013 to $65.47/boe. 
 
Pricing into the first quarter of 2014 is expected to strengthen as the WCS differential has narrowed, settling at US$29.14 
per barrel and US$19.14 per barrel in January 2014 and February 2014, respectively. To protect against a volatile WCS 
differential, Gear has options to deliver approximately 60 per cent of its volumes into rail terminals shipping to the US Gulf 
Coast throughout 2014. Gear evaluates this option on a quarterly basis to optimize its received price on heavy oil. 
 
Royalties 

In the fourth quarter of 2013, royalties as a percentage of commodity product sales were 25.1 per cent, an increase of four 
per cent from the same period in 2012. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 royalties as a percentage of 
commodity product sales was 23.3 per cent, an increase of one per cent over the prior year. In the fourth quarter Gear 
sold volumes from inventory which were originally produced in a higher price environment, resulting in an increased 
royalty rate in the period. When heavy oil wells are first drilled, two storage tanks are required to capture production at 
high initial rates. Over time, as production decreases, only one tank is required. In order to maximize capital efficiency, 
management decided to drain volumes from non-ancillary tanks in order to make them available for use in the 2014 
capital program. This resulted in a total of 18 tanks being made available for 2014 new drills, with estimated cost savings 
of approximately $1.0 million.  
 
Royalty rates throughout 2014 are expected to average approximately 19 per cent as production volumes on crown lands 
increase on the Wildmere Cummings play in Alberta and the Maidstone Cummings play in Saskatchewan. These two 
crown properties have initial crown royalty rates of 5 per cent and 2.5 per cent, respectively, as well as a 4.5 per cent 
gross overriding royalty on the Maidstone Cummings play and an estimated ultimate field life royalty of approximately 9 
and 11 per cent, respectively. Gear currently anticipates further royalty reduction in 2015 as opportunities on these crown 
lands continue to be developed. 
  
Table 7 

Royalty expense Three months ended Twelve months ended 

($ thousands except % and per boe) 

Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

Sep 30, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

Royalty expense 6,470 5,493 18 6,737 22,726 18,020 26 
Royalty expense as a % of Sales 25.1 24.1 4 22.5 23.3 23.1 1 
Royalty expense per boe 15.15 14.66 3 18.59 15.27 14.16 8 

 
Operating and Transportation costs 

Operating costs were $16.72 per boe in the fourth quarter of 2013, a nine per cent increase over the same period in 2012. 
For the full year operating costs were $17.90 per boe, a three percent increase from 2012. Gear experienced increased 
energy costs in the quarter and year-to-date as a result of higher propane costs through higher per unit costs and 
increased consumption as certain wells await tie-in to a gas gathering system. Trucking costs also increased due to 
higher water production from two high volume lift wells and inter-battery transfers performed to facilitate volume deliveries 
to rail terminals as well as sales from inventory. 
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In the first quarter of 2014 operating expenses per boe are expected to trend upwards as result of increasing energy costs 
due to seasonal cold weather and reduced production volumes. Costs are anticipated to reduce later in the year with 
increased volumes and the addition of new gas gathering facilities. Guidance for 2014 is $17.00 to $18.00 per boe. Table 
8 below summarizes the operating and transportation expense: 
 
Table 8 

Operating and Transportation  Three months ended Twelve months ended 
   expense 

($ thousands except per boe) 

Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

Sep 30, 
2013 

Dec  31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

Operating expense 6,200 4,697 32 5,128 22,314 18,952 18 
Transportation expense 940 1,050 (10) 1,108 4,327 3,079 41 

Operating and transportation expense 7,140 5,747 24 6,236 26,641 22,031 21 

Operating expense per boe 14.52 12.54 16 14.15 14.99 14.90 1 

Transportation expense per boe 2.20 2.80 (21) 3.06 2.91 2.42 20 

Operating and transportation expense  
   per boe 16.72 15.34 9 17.21 17.90 

 
17.32 3 

 
Operating Netbacks 

Gear’s operating netback was $28.50 per boe in the fourth quarter of 2013 compared to $30.93 per boe in the same 
period of 2012. The decrease is due to a small increase in both royalty and operating costs. 
 
Gear’s operating netback for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $32.38 per boe, which is an 8 per cent increase 
from the twelve months ended December 31, 2012. This increase is the result of higher commodity prices offset by a 
small increase in royalty and operating costs. 
 
Gear is anticipating that operating netbacks will improve in 2014 due to an expected increased percentage of sales 
weighted towards liquids, a reduction in annual royalty percentage, and an anticipated reduction in operating and 
transportation costs year over year. 
 
The components of operating netbacks are summarized in Table 9: 
 
Table 9 

Netbacks 

($ per boe) 

Q4 2013 
Total 

($/boe) 

Q4 2012 
Total 

($/boe) 

% 
Change Q3 2013 

Total 
($/boe) 

YTD Q4 
2013 
Total 

($/boe) 

YTD Q4 
2012 
Total 

($/boe) 

% 
Change 

Weighted average sales price 60.31 60.89 (1) 82.70 65.47 61.28 7 
Other 0.06 0.04 50 0.07 0.08 0.06 33 

Total sales 60.37 60.93 (1) 82.77 65.55 61.34 7 
Royalties (15.15) (14.66) 3 (18.59) (15.27) (14.16) 8 
Operating costs (16.72) (15.34) 9 (17.21) (17.90) (17.32) 3 

Netback 28.50 30.93 (8) 46.97 32.38 29.86 8 

 
General and Administrative (“G&A”) Expenses and Share-based compensation (“SBC”) 

G&A totaled $1.8 million and $5.9 million for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2013, respectively, an 
increase of $0.6 million and $1.5 million when compared to the same periods in 2012. These increases are due to a 
temporary increase in professional fees incurred in conjunction with Gear’s initial public listing as well as a permanent 
increase in staffing.  On a per boe basis, G&A increased by 27 per cent and 14 per cent for the three and twelve months 
ended December 31, 2013.  G&A is expected to decrease in 2014 as one-time costs relating to Gear’s public listing are 
no longer incurred.  Fourth quarter 2013 G&A costs per boe before professional fees incurred for the IPO were $2.87/boe. 
Guidance for the full year 2014 remains unchanged from $3.40/boe - $3.60/boe.  
 
SBC is related to bonus awards through the granting of actual common shares and stock options granted to Gear’s 
employees. During the fourth quarter of 2013 0.2 million options were granted at an average exercise price of $3.00 and 
0.1 million options were cancelled.  As at December 31, 2013, a total of 4.3 million options were outstanding or eight per 
cent of the 54 million total common shares outstanding.  Table 10 is a breakdown of G&A and SBC expense: 
 
Table 10 

G&A and SBC expense Three months ended Twelve months ended 

($ thousands except per boe) 

Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

Sept 30, 
2013 

Dec  31, 
2013 

Dec  31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

G&A expenses 1,840 1,274 44 1,335 5,869 4,412 33 
SBC expense 404 866 (53) 493 2,565 3,206 (20) 

G&A expenses per boe 4.31 3.40 27 3.68 3.94 3.47 14 
SBC expense per boe 0.95 2.41 (61) 1.36 1.72 2.06 (17) 
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Interest and financing charges 

Interest and financing charges totaled $0.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2013, an increase of nine per cent over the 
fourth quarter of 2012. Gear’s interest rate on its demand facility is dependent on the previous two quarter’s debt to cash 
flow ratio. For instance, Gear’s fourth quarter 2013 interest rate is dependent on the second quarter 2013 debt to cash 
flow ratio. The debt to cash flow ratio decreased from 1.6 times in the second quarter of 2012 to 1.4 times in the second 
quarter of 2013. Gear’s current annualized borrowing costs, inclusive of financing charges on its credit facility, 
approximated 3.5 per cent for the fourth quarter of 2013 compared to 3.6 per cent in the fourth quarter of 2012 and 4.7 per 
cent in the third quarter of 2013. First quarter 2014 stamping fees are based on Gear’s previously reported third quarter 
net debt to annualized cash flow from operations ratio of 1.2 times. As a result, annualized borrowing costs in the first 
quarter are expected to remain relatively unchanged from the fourth quarter. 
 
Table 11 is a breakdown of interest expense: 
 
Table 11 

Interest and financing charges Three months ended Twelve months ended 

($ thousands except per boe) 

Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

Sept 30, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

Interest expense 488 483 1 597 2,025 1,604 26 
Financing charges 15 - - 15 70 83 (16) 
Standby and letter of credit fees 25 3 733 30 84 20 320 

Interest and financing charges 528 486 9 642 2,179 1,707 28 
Interest and financing charges per boe 1.24 1.30 (5) 1.77 1.46 1.33 10 

 
The entire debt balance has been classified as current as Gear’s borrowings are under a revolving operating demand 
facility that can be called at any time. 
 
Risk Management Contracts 

Gear uses or plans to use a variety of derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices, 
foreign exchange rates and interest rates. All present and future transactions are considered to be effective economic 
hedges; however, Gear’s current contracts and future contracts thereafter may not qualify as effective hedges for 
accounting purposes. The board of directors has authorized a hedging limit of up to 65 per cent of its production, net of 
royalties, for the current and following calendar year. For the fourth quarter of 2013, Gear had 2,100 barrels per day 
hedged at a WTI price of Cdn$94.51 per barrel, generating cash hedging losses of $1.5 million. For the full year 2013, 
Gear generated cash hedging losses of $5.1 million. 
 
Gear has entered into 3-way enhanced swaps to hedge 1,800 barrels per day at a WTI price of Cdn$98.02 per barrel for 
the first half of 2014 and 1,000 barrels per day at a WTI price of Cdn$99.81 for the second half of 2014. Subsequent to 
year-end, Gear entered into 3-way collars for the second half of 2014. The material hedging losses in 2013 prompted 
Gear to reassess its risk management strategy. By entering into collars, Gear attains a floor price necessary to maintain a 
loan value on its reserves for its credit facility but still allows for the upside participation in crude oil prices up to US$98.36 
on 600 barrels per day. For further details on Gear’s hedging contracts, see the notes to the financial statements. 
 
Gear has a mandate to protect its capital program funding for the current and upcoming year by reducing fluctuations in 
both its cash flow from operations and assigned loan value on its credit facility. In doing so, Gear ensures a high degree of 
probability in its capital program rate of return given that its heavy oil properties pay out in under two years. Internally, 
Gear strives to maintain a debt to cash flow of less than two times and optimally in the range of 1 to 1.5 times. All 
contracts are entered into with counterparties that maintain a very high credit rating. Fair value of all contracts are 
performed using Gear's internal model and compared to valuations performed by Gear's counterparties for reasonability. 
These fair values are reflected on both the balance sheet and income statement and are recognized in their entirety. 
 
Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization Expense (“DD&A”)  

DD&A was $20.64 per boe and $21.50 per boe for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2013. This 
compares with DD&A rates of $22.82 per boe and $23.31 per boe for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 
2012. Gear’s finding and development costs decreased year over year resulting in a decreased DD&A rate. 
 
Table 12 

DD&A Rate Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended 

($ thousands except per boe) 
Dec 31, 

2013 
Dec 31, 

2012 
% 

Change 
Sept 30, 

2013 

Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

DD&A 8,813 8,556 3 7,977 32,027 29,653 8 

DD&A rate per boe 20.64 22.82 (10) 22.00 21.50 23.31 (8) 

 
Taxes 

During the fourth quarter of 2013, a deferred tax recovery of $0.1 million was recorded compared to a $1.0 million 
expense in 2012. The 2013 recovery is primarily influenced by temporary differences relating to the book basis of Gear’s 
property, plant and equipment relative to its tax basis. As at December 31, 2013 Gear’s estimated tax pools were $231.1 
million ($207.8 million at December 31, 2012). These income tax pools are deductible at various rates and annual 
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deductions associated with the initial tax pools will decline over time. No cash income taxes were paid in 2013 and 2012.  
 
Capital Expenditures, Acquisitions and Dispositions 

Capital expenditures, including acquisitions and dispositions, totaled $17.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 as 
compared to $7.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2012 and $17.1 million in the third quarter of 2013. The majority of the 
activity continues to relate to drilling, with Gear drilling a total of 14 gross (12.5 net) wells in the fourth quarter of 2013. All 
of these wells were completed and equipped prior to the end of the year. Year-to-date Gear has drilled gross 42 (37.9 net) 
horizontal and 5 (4.2 net) vertical wells. On average, approximately $1.0 million to $1.2 million is incurred on each drilled 
horizontal well, including the completion and facility equipping costs. 
 
A $70 million budget has been approved for the 2014 capital program, $46 million of which is allocated to development 
drilling and recompletions, $14 million to land, seismic and exploration, and $10 million in total for enhanced oil recovery 
commercialization and facilities, maintenance and abandonments. Gear is planning to drill 59 gross (55 net) wells in 2014. 
 
A breakdown of capital expenditures and net acquisitions is shown in Table 13: 
 
Table 13 

Capital expenditures Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended 

($ thousands) 
Dec 31, 

2013 
Dec 31, 

2012 
% 

Change 
Sept 30, 

2013 

Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec  31, 
2012 

% 
Change 

Geological and geophysical 141 199 (29) 224 844 372 127 
Drilling and completions 9,818 2,239 338 13,149 33,701 28,266 19 
Production equipment and facilities 6,268 2,118 196 3,917 16,629 11,277 47 
Undeveloped land purchased at  
   crown land sales 1,192 

 
875 36 

 
25 2,302 

 
5,316 (57) 

Other 21 61 (66) 27 83 273 (70) 

Total capital expenditures 17,440 5,492 218 17,342 53,559 45,504 18 

Corporate acquisition 
(1)

 - - - - - - - 
Property acquisitions and  
   dispositions, net 

(1)
 (29) 1,683 (102) (200) (92) 1,750 (105) 

Total capital expenditures and  
   net acquisitions 17,411 

 
7,175 143 

 
17,142 53,467 

 
47,254 13 

(1) Includes post-closing adjustments. 

 
Decommissioning Liability 

At December 31, 2013, Gear has recorded a decommissioning liability of $35.1 million ($24.7 million at December 31, 
2012) for the future abandonment and reclamation of Gear’s properties. The estimated decommissioning liability includes 
assumptions in respect of actual costs to abandon wells or reclaim the property, the time frame in which such costs will be 
incurred as well as annual inflation factors in order to calculate the undiscounted total future liability. The future liability 
has been discounted at the risk free rate of 3.13 per cent (2.26 per cent at December 31, 2012). Abandonment cost 
estimates are derived from third party government sources and, as a result, can fluctuate from time to time. The increase 
in liability is due to increased third party cost estimates as well as the addition of 42 net wells drilled as part of Gears 2013 
capital program. 
 
Environmental stewardship is a core value at Gear and abandonment and reclamation investments continue to be made 
in a prudent and responsible manner with oversight by the Board of Directors. Ongoing abandonment expenditures for all 
of Gear’s assets are funded entirely out of cash flow from operations. 
 
Capitalization, Financial Resources and Liquidity 

A breakdown of Gear’s capital structure is outlined in Table 14, as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012: 
 
Table 14 

Debt 

($ thousands except ratio amounts) Dec 31, 2013 December 31, 2012 

Net debt (1) 67,148 47,926 
Net debt to annualized cash flow from operations  2.0 1.1 

(1) Net debt is a non-GAAP measure and is reconciled to the nearest GAAP measure below under the heading “Non-GAAP 
Measures”. 

 
On April 24, 2013 Gear entered into a syndicated demand credit facility with two participating banks and increased its total 
credit facilities from $60 million to $75 million. The terms and conditions of the Gear Credit Facilities were not substantially 
modified from the previous credit facility. With a debt balance of $64.9 million and letters of credit of $2.6 million, Gear 
currently has $7.5 million in unused credit available. The credit facilities bear interest at Canadian bank prime or, at Gear’s 
option, Canadian bankers’ acceptances, plus applicable margin and stamping fee. The total stamping fees range, 
depending on Gear’s debt to cash flow from operations ratio, between 50 bps to 250 bps on Canadian bank prime 
borrowings and between 175 bps and 375 bps on Canadian dollar banker’s acceptances. The undrawn portion of the 
facility is subject to a standby fee in the range of 20 to 45 bps. The facility is secured by a fixed and floating charge on the 
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assets of Gear and is subject to regular reviews with the next scheduled review to be complete by June 1, 2014. As at 
December 31, 2013, Gear was in compliance with all externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
In March 2014, Gear will undergo a review of its syndicated demand credit facility as a result of a finalized reserve report. 
Early indications by the two participating banks are that Gear will materially increase its facility from $75 million to $100 
million. 
 
Gear’s long-term strategy is to keep debt at less than two times cash flow from operations. For the fourth quarter of 2013, 
the debt to annualized cash from for operations ratio was 2.0 times, an increase from the third quarter of 2013 where net 
debt to cash flow from operations ratio was 1.2 times. Net debt increased during the fourth quarter of 2013 as a result of 
capital expenditures exceeding the fourth quarter 2013 cash flow from operations. For the first quarter of 2014, Gear’s net 
debt to cash flow is expected to remain unchanged and decrease as the year progresses as a result of stronger cash flow 
from operations. 
 
Gear typically uses two markets to raise capital: equity and bank debt with the expectation that future capital programs will 
be financed with cash flow from operations and existing credit capacity. Gear’s 2014 capital program is expected to be 
financed primarily through cash flow from operations.  Gear’s ability to increase its borrowing capacity is based on its 
reserves value as determined by its external reserve evaluator. 
 
If Gear undertakes any major acquisitions, management would expect to finance the transactions with a combination of 
debt and equity in a cost effective manner. Gear will continue to be very active looking at acquisitions that meet our 
investment criteria. 
 
Shareholders’ Equity 

As at December 31, 2013, 54 million common shares were outstanding, an increase of 0.1 million from December 31, 
2012. The increase is the result of $0.1 million shares being issued to Gear staff for services rendered at a deemed value 
of $2.50 per share in April 2013.  
 

Environmental Initiatives Impacting Gear 

There are no new material environmental initiatives impacting Gear at this time. 
 
Contractual Obligations and Commitments 

Gear has contractual obligations in the normal course of operations including purchase of assets and services, operating 
agreements, transportation commitments, sales commitments, royalty obligations, lease rental obligations and employee 
agreements. These obligations are of a recurring, consistent nature and impact Gear’s cash flows in an ongoing manner. 
Gear also has contractual obligations and commitments that are of a less routine nature as disclosed in its financial 
statements. 
 

Gear enters into commitments for capital expenditures in advance of the expenditures being made. At a given point in 
time, it is estimated that Gear has committed to capital expenditures equal to approximately one quarter of its capital 
budget by means of giving the necessary authorizations to incur the expenditures in a future period. 
 
In the second quarter of 2013, Gear entered into a three year lease agreement for head office space. The lease term 
commenced November 1, 2013.  
 
As at December 31, 2013, Gear had three contractual commitments: 

 a lease agreement for its head office, 

 a lease agreements for its field office, and  

 a drilling rig commitment. 

The lease agreement for Gear's new head office commenced November 1, 2013 and expires on July 30, 2016 with an 
annual commitment of $0.3 million and a total commitment of $0.7 million. The lease agreement for Gear's field office is 
effective until December 31, 2015 with a total commitment of $0.1 million. Finally, the drilling rig commitment is effective 
until June 15, 2016 with an annual commitment of $3.8 million and a total commitment of $11.3 million. 
 
At this time, Gear does not have any contractual or regulatory obligations to settle any asset retirement obligations in the 
next five years; however, Gear has internally acknowledged that some of these obligations may be settled over the course 
of the next five years. 
 
Gear is involved in litigation and claims arising in the normal course of operations. Management is of the opinion that 
pending litigation will not have a material impact on Gear’s financial position or results of operations. 
 
See note 16 of the audited Financial Statements for further information. 
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 

Gear has certain lease agreements that were entered into in the normal course of operations, all of which are discussed in 
the Contractual Obligations and Commitments above and disclosed in the notes to the audited Financial Statements. All 
leases have been treated as operating leases whereby the lease payments are included in operating expenses or G&A 
expenses depending on the nature of the lease. No asset or liability value has been assigned to these leases on the 
balance sheet as of December 31, 2013. In addition, Gear also has two letters of credit which have not been reflected on 
its unaudited Balance Sheet but have been disclosed accordingly in the notes to the audited Financial Statements. These 
letters of credit are with the British Columbia and Saskatchewan governments in order to offset abandonment liabilities 
existing in the two provinces. The $1.9 million letter of credit with the Saskatchewan government was withdrawn in 
February 2014 and replaced with a deposit drawn against the Gear Credit Facilities. This deposit is expected to be 
refunded in two installments in the second quarter as Gear ramps up production in Saskatchewan.  
 
Related Party Transactions 

Other than the payment of compensation to key management personnel, the Corporation has not entered into any related 
party transactions since January 1, 2012. 
 
Non-GAAP Measures 

Management uses certain key performance indicators and industry benchmarks such as cash flow from operations, cash 
flow from operations per debt adjusted share, production per day per thousand debt adjusted share, operating netbacks 
(“netbacks”) and net debt to analyze financial and operating performance. Management believes that these key 
performance indicators and benchmarks are key measures of profitability for Gear and provide investors with information 
that is commonly used by other oil and gas companies. These key performance indicators and benchmarks as presented 
do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by Canadian GAAP and therefore may not be comparable with the 
calculation of similar measures for other entities. 
 
Cash Flow from Operations 
Cash flow from operations is a non-GAAP measure defined as cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-
cash operating working capital and decommissioning liabilities settled. Gear evaluates its financial performance primarily 
on cash flow from operations and considers it a key measure as it demonstrates its ability to generate the cash flow 
necessary to fund our capital program and repay debt. Cash flow from operations is unlikely to be comparable with the 
calculation of similar measures for other companies 
 
Table 15 below reconciles cash flow from operating activities to cash flow from operations. 
 
Table 15 

 Three months ended Twelve months ended 
($ thousands) Dec 31, 

2013 
Dec  31, 

2012 
Sept 30, 

2013 

Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

Cash flow from operating activities 7,765 7,411 12,991 39,511 36,226 
Expenditures on site restoration and reclamation 98 15 502 602 778 
Change in non-cash working capital 446 3,673 (1,413) (5,010) (3,311) 

Cash flow from operations 8,309 11,099 12,080 35,103 33,693 

 
Net Debt 

Net debt is a non-GAAP measure defined as debt less current working capital items, excluding risk management 
contracts. Gear uses net debt as a key indicator of its leverage and strength of its balance sheet. Net debt is directly tied 
to Gear’s cash flow from operations and capital investment. Net debt is unlikely to be comparable with the calculation of 
similar measures for other companies. 
 
Table 16 

Capital Structure and Liquidity 

($ thousands) December  31, 2013 December 31, 2012 

Debt 64,917 52,683 
Working capital deficit (surplus) (1) 2,231 (4,757) 

Net debt obligations 67,148 47,926 

(1) Excludes risk management contracts. 

At December 31, 2013, Gear had a working capital deficit of $2.2 million. When in a deficit position, the Corporation is 
able to meet obligations as they come due by drawing on the Gear Credit Facility, which had $7.5 million available as of 
December 31, 2013. Gear actively manages its liquidity through strategies such as continuously monitoring forecasted 
and actual cash flows from operating, financing and investing activities, available credit under existing banking 
arrangements and opportunities to issue additional equity. Management believes that future cash flows generated from 
these sources will be adequate to settle Gear's financial liabilities.  

 
Debt adjusted shares 

Debt adjusted shares are calculated by the weighted average shares plus the share equivalent on Gear’s average net 
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debt over the period, assuming that the debt were to be extinguished with a share issuance. Prior to November 18, 2013, 
Gear was a privately held company with no public share price data, Gear assumed a share price of five times a rolling 
twelve month cash flow from operations per weighted average share in order to determine the price to convert Gear’s debt 
to shares. The five times multiple is proximal to Gear’s actual trading multiple since becoming a publically traded entity 
and, as such, prior period amounts have not been re-stated. In the fourth quarter of 2013 and go forward Gear’s actual 
weighted average share price in the period will be used to calculate the number of shares issued through extinguishment 
of debt. Table 17 below reconciles the debt adjusted shares. 
 
Table 17 

 Three months ended Twelve months ended 
(thousands, except per share amounts) Dec 31, 

2013 
Dec 31, 

2012 
Sept 30, 

2013 

Dec 31, 
2013 

Dec 31, 
2012 

Weighted average shares 53,956 53,858 53,956 53,932 53,748 
      
Rolling Twelve Month Cash flow from operations n/a 33,693 37,893 35,103 33,693 

Share Price to extinguish debt 3.04 3.13 3.50 3.25 3.13 
Average net debt 

(1)
 62,380 49,423 54,828 57,537 40,854 

Share equivalent on average net debt 20,519 15,790 15,665 17,703 13,052 

Debt adjusted shares 74,475 69,648 69,621 71,635 66,800 

(1) Average net debt obtained by a simple average between opening and ending net debt for the three and twelve months ended. 

 
Critical Accounting Estimates 

Gear's financial and operating results incorporate certain estimates including: 
 

 Estimated revenues, royalties and operating expenses on production as at a specific reporting date but for which 
actuals revenues and costs have not yet been received; 

 Estimated capital expenditures on projects that are in progress; 

 Estimated DD&A charges that are based on estimates of oil and gas reserves that Gear expects to recover in the 
future; 

 Estimated fair values of derivative contracts that are subject to fluctuation depending upon the underlying 
commodity prices; 

 Estimated value of decommissioning liabilities that are dependent upon estimates of future costs and timing of 
expenditures; and 

 Estimated future recoverable value of property, plant and equipment and any associated impairment charges or 
recoveries. 

 
Gear has hired individuals and consultants who have the skills required to make such estimates and ensures that 
individuals or departments with the most knowledge of the activity are responsible for the estimates. Further, past 
estimates are reviewed and compared to actual results, and actual results are compared to budgets in order to make 
more informed decisions on future estimates. For further information on the determination of certain estimates inherent in 
the financial statements refer to Note 4 "Management Judgments and Estimation uncertainty" in the audited financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2013. 
 
Gear's leadership team is committed to the ongoing development of procedures, standards and systems to allow Gear 
staff to make the best decisions possible and ensuring those decisions are in compliance with the Gear's environment, 
health and safety policies. 
 
Risk Factors 

The Gear management team is focused on long-term strategic planning and has identified the key risks, uncertainties and 
opportunities associated with Gear’s business that can impact the financial results. They include, but are not limited to: 
 
Prices, Markets and Marketing 

Gear’s operational results and financial condition, and therefore the amount of capital expenditures, are dependent on the 
prices received for oil and natural gas production. Prices for oil and natural gas are subject to large fluctuations in 
response to relatively minor changes in the supply of and demand for oil and natural gas, market uncertainty and a variety 
of additional factors beyond the control of the Company. A material decline in prices could result in a reduction of net 
production revenue. The economics of producing from some wells may change because of lower prices, which could 
result in reduced production of oil or natural gas and a reduction in the volumes of Gear’s reserves. Management might 
also elect not to produce from certain wells at lower prices.  
 
Gear’s ability to market its oil and natural gas may depend upon its ability to acquire space on pipelines or rail cars that 
deliver oil and natural gas to commercial markets. Deliverability uncertainties related to the distance that Gear’s reserves 
are to pipelines, processing and storage facilities, operational problems affecting pipelines and facilities as well as 
government regulation relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, allowable production, the export of oil and natural 
gas and many other aspects of the oil and natural gas business may also affect the Company. 
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These factors could result in a material decrease in Gear’s expected net production revenue and a reduction in its oil and 
natural gas acquisition, development and exploration activities. Any substantial and extended decline in the price of oil 
and natural gas would have an adverse effect on the Company’s carrying value of its reserves, borrowing capacity, 
revenues, profitability and cash flows from operations. 
 
Refinancing 
Gear currently has a $75 million syndicated demand facility with two banks. The lenders review the facility each year and 
determine if they will extend for another year. In the event that the facility is not extended, indebtedness under the facility 
will become repayable at that time. There is also a risk that the facility will not be renewed for the same amount or on the 
same terms. Any of these events could affect Gear’s ability to fund ongoing operations. 
 
Operational Matters 

Drilling hazards, environmental damage and various field operating conditions could greatly increase the cost of 
operations and adversely affect the production from successful wells. While diligent well supervision and effective 
maintenance operations can contribute to maximizing production rates over time, it is not possible to eliminate production 
delays and declines from normal field operating conditions, which can negatively affect revenue and cash flow levels to 
varying degrees. Oil and natural gas exploration, development and production operations are subject to all the risks and 
hazards typically associated with such operations, including, but not limited to, fire, explosion, blowouts, cratering, sour 
gas releases, and spills or other environmental hazards. These typical risks and hazards could result in substantial 
damage to oil and natural gas wells, production facilities, other property, the environment and personal injury. As is 
standard industry practice, Gear is not fully insured against all risks, nor are all risks insurable. Although Gear maintains 
liability insurance in an amount that it considers consistent with industry practice, liabilities associated with certain risks 
could exceed policy limits or not be covered. In either event, the Company could incur significant costs. 
 

Reserve Estimates 
The reserves and recovery information contained in Gear’s independent reserves evaluation is only an estimate. The 
actual production and ultimate reserves from the properties may be greater or less than the estimates prepared by the 
independent reserves evaluator. The reserves report was prepared using certain commodity price assumptions. If lower 
prices for crude oil, natural gas, condensate and NGLs are realized by Gear and substituted for the price assumptions 
utilized in those reserves reports, the present value of estimated future net cash flows as well as the amount of the 
reserves would be reduced and the reduction could be significant. 
 
Acquisitions 
The price paid for acquisitions is based on engineering and economic estimates of the potential reserves made by 
independent engineers modified to reflect the technical views of management. These assessments include a number of 
material assumptions regarding such factors as recoverability and marketability of oil, natural gas, and NGLs, future prices 
of oil, natural gas and NGLs, and operating costs, future capital expenditures and royalties and other government levies 
that will be imposed over the producing life of the reserves. Many of these factors are subject to change and are beyond 
the control of management. In particular, changes in the prices of and markets for oil, natural gas and NGLs from those 
anticipated at the time of making such assessments will affect the value of Gear’s shares. In addition, all such estimates 
involve a measure of geological and engineering uncertainty that could result in lower production and reserves. Actual 
reserves could vary materially from these estimates. 
 
Royalty Regimes 

There can be no assurance that the federal government and the provincial governments of the western provinces will not 
adopt new royalty regimes or modify the existing royalty regimes which may have an impact on the economics of the 
Company’s projects. An increase in royalties would reduce Gear’s earnings and could make future capital investments, or 
operations, less economic. 
 
Variations in Foreign Exchange Rates and Interest Rates 
World oil and natural gas prices are quoted in United States dollars. The Canadian/United States dollar exchange rate, 
which fluctuates over time, consequently affects the price received by Canadian producers of oil and natural gas. Material 
increases in the value of the Canadian dollar negatively affects production revenues. Future Canadian/United States 
exchange rates could accordingly affect the future value of reserves as determined by independent evaluators. 
 
An increase in interest rates could result in a significant increase in the amount Gear pays to service debt, resulting in a 
reduced amount available to fund its exploration and development activities.  
 
Third Party Credit Risk 
Gear assumes customer credit risk associated with oil and gas sales, financial hedging and joint venture participants. In 
the event that Gear’s counterparties default on payments to Gear, cash flows will be impacted. A diversified sales 
customer base is maintained and exposure to individual entities is reviewed on a regular basis. 
 
Environmental 
All phases of the oil and natural gas business present environmental risks and hazards and are subject to environmental 
regulation pursuant to a variety of federal, provincial and local laws and regulations. Environmental legislation provides 
for, among other things, restrictions and prohibitions on spills, releases or emissions of various substances produced in 
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association with oil and natural gas operations. The legislation also requires that wells and facility sites be operated, 
maintained, abandoned and reclaimed to the satisfaction of applicable regulatory authorities. Although Gear believes that 
it will be in material compliance with current applicable environmental regulations, no assurance can be given that 
environmental laws will not result in a curtailment of production or a material increase in the costs of production, 
development or exploration activities or otherwise have a material adverse effect on the Gear’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects.  
 
Project Risks 
Gear manages a variety of small and large projects and plans to spend $70 million on capital projects throughout 2014. 
Project delays may delay expected revenues from operations. Significant project cost over-runs could make a project 
uneconomic. Gear’s ability to execute projects and market oil and natural gas depends upon numerous factors beyond the 
Company’s control, including: 

 the availability of processing capacity; 

 the availability and proximity of pipeline capacity; 

 the availability of storage capacity; 

 the availability of, and the ability to acquire, water supplies needed for drilling and hydraulic fracturing, or Gear’s 
ability to dispose of water used or removed from strata at a reasonable cost and within applicable environmental 
regulations;  

 the supply of and demand for oil and natural gas; 

 the availability of alternative fuel sources; 

 the effects of inclement weather; 

 the availability of drilling and related equipment; 

 unexpected cost increases; 

 accidental events; 

 currency fluctuations; 

 changes in regulations; 

 the availability and productivity of skilled labour; and 

 the regulation of the oil and natural gas industry by various levels of government and governmental agencies. 
 
Because of these factors, Gear could be unable to execute projects on time, on budget, or at all, and may be unable to 
market the oil and natural gas that the Company produces. 

 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”), as defined in National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in 
Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings, are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be 
disclosed in the Company’s annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed, or submitted by the Company under 
securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified under securities 
legislation and include controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be so disclosed is 
accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as 
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer of Gear evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s DC&P. Based on that 
evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that Gear’s DC&P were effective as at 
December 31, 2013. 
 
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 

Gear’s Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal 
control over financial reporting (“ICFR”) for Gear. They have, as at the financial year ended December 31, 2013, designed 
ICFR, or caused it to be designed under their supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. The control 
framework Gear’s officers used to design the Company’s ICFR is the Internal Control - Integrated Framework (“COSO 
Framework”) published by The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). 
 
Under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, Gear conducted an evaluation of the 
effectiveness of the Company’s ICFR as at December 31, 2013 based on the COSO Framework. Based on this 
evaluation, the officers concluded that as of December 31, 2013, Gear maintained effective ICFR. It should be noted that 
while Gear’s officers believe that the Company’s controls provide a reasonable level of assurance with regard to their 
effectiveness, they do not expect that the DC&P and ICFR will prevent all errors and fraud. A control system, no matter 
how well conceived or operated, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the 
control system are met. 
 
There were no changes in Gear’s ICFR during the year ended December 31, 2013 that materially affected, or are 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s ICFR. 
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Financial Reporting Update 
 
Future Accounting Policy Changes 

In May 2013, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 36 "Impairment of Assets" which reduce the circumstances in which 
the recoverable amount of cash generating units (“CGU’s”) is required to be disclosed and clarify the disclosures required 
when an impairment loss has been recognized or reversed in the period. The amendments are required to be adopted 
retrospectively for fiscal years beginning January 1, 2014, with earlier adoption permitted. These amendments will be 
applied by Gear on January 1, 2014 and the adoption will only impact Gear disclosures in the notes to the financial 
statements in periods when an impairment loss or impairment reversal is recognized. 
 
In May 2013, the IASB issued IFRIC 21 "Levies," which was developed by the IFRS Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC"). 
IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers payment, as identified by the 
relevant legislation, occurs. The interpretation also clarifies that no liability should be recognized before the specified 
minimum threshold to trigger that levy is reached. IFRIC 21 is required to be adopted retrospectively for fiscal years 
beginning January 1, 2014, with earlier adoption permitted. IFRIC 21 will be applied by Gear on January 1, 2014 and the 
adoption may have an impact on Gear’s accounting for production and similar taxes, which do not meet the definition of 
an income tax in IAS 12 "Income Taxes." Gear is currently assessing and quantifying the effect on its financial statements. 
 
The IASB has undertaken a three-phase project to replace IAS 39 "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement" 
with IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments." In November 2009, the IASB issued the first phase of IFRS 9, which details the 
classification and measurement requirements for financial assets. Requirements for financial liabilities were added to the 
standard in October 2010. The new standard replaces the current multiple classification and measurement models for 
financial assets and liabilities with a single model that has only two classification categories: amortized cost and fair value. 
 
In November 2013, the IASB issued the third phase of IFRS 9 which details the new general hedge accounting model. 
Hedge accounting remains optional and the new model is intended to allow reporters to better reflect risk management 
activities in the financial statements and provide more opportunities to apply hedge accounting. Gear does not employ 
hedge accounting for its risk management contracts currently in place. In July 2013, the IASB deferred the mandatory 
effective date of IFRS 9 and has left this date open pending the finalization of the impairment and classification and 
measurement requirements. IFRS 9 is still available for early adoption. The full impact of the standard on Gear’s financial 
statements will not be known until the project is complete. 
 
Changes in Accounting Policies 
As of January 1, 2013, the Company adopted several new IFRS standards and amendments in accordance with the 
transitional provisions of each standard. A brief description of each new standard and its impact on the Company's 
financial statements follows below: 
 

• IFRS 11 "Joint Arrangements" divides joint arrangements into two types, joint operations and joint ventures, each 
with their own accounting model. All joint arrangements are required to be reassessed on transition to IFRS 11 to 
determine their type to apply the appropriate accounting. The retrospective adoption of this standard does not 
have any impact on Gear’s financial statements. 
 

• IFRS 12 "Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities" combines in a single standard the disclosure requirements for 
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements, as well as unconsolidated structured entities. The retrospective 
adoption of the annual disclosure requirements of this standard does not have a material impact on Gear’s 
annual financial statements. 
 

• IFRS 13 "Fair Value Measurement" defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and sets 
out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. This standard defines fair value as the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date. The adoption of this standard requires the revaluation of certain derivative financial 
liabilities on Gear’s consolidated balance sheets to reflect an appropriate amount of risk of non-performance by 
Gear. The standard also requires additional annual fair value disclosures, as well as additional interim 
disclosures, as per IAS 34. The prospective adoption of this standard does not have a material impact on Gear’s 
financial statements. 
 

• IAS 19 "Employee Benefits" has been amended to revise the recognition, presentation and disclosure 
requirements for defined benefit plans. The retrospective adoption of these amendments does not have any 
impact on Gear’s financial statements. 
 

• IAS 27 "Separate Financial Statements" has been amended as a result of changes to IFRS 10. The retrospective 
adoption of these amendments does not have any impact on Gear’s financial statements. 

 
• IAS 28 "Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures" has been amended as a result of changes to IFRS 10 

and IFRS 11. The retrospective adoption of these amendments does not have any impact on Gear’s financial 
statements. 

 



 

-24- 

• The amendments to IAS 32 "Financial Instruments: Presentation" clarify the current requirements for 
offsetting financial instruments. The amendments to IFRS 7 "Financial Instruments: Disclosures" develop 
common disclosure requirements for financial assets and financial liabilities that are offset in the financial 
statements, or that are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements. The Company 
retrospectively adopted the amendments to both standards on January 1, 2013. The application of these 
amendments does not have any impact on Gear’s financial statements. 

 
Barrels of Oil Equivalent 

Disclosure provided herein in respect of BOEs may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. A BOE conversion ratio 
of six Mcf to one Bbl is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip and do 
not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead. Additionally, given that the value ratio based on the current price of 
crude oil, as compared to natural gas, is significantly different from the energy equivalency of 6:1; utilizing a conversion 
ratio of 6:1 may be misleading as an indication of value. 
 
Initial Production Rates 

Any references in this document to initial production rates are useful in confirming the presence of hydrocarbons, 
however, such rates are not determinative of the rates at which such wells will continue production and decline thereafter. 
Additionally, such rates may also include recovered "load oil" fluids used in well completion stimulation. While 
encouraging, readers are cautioned not to place reliance on such rates in calculating the aggregate production for the 
Gear. 

 
 
QUARTERLY HISTORICAL REVIEW 
 
 2013 2012 
(Cdn$ thousands, except per share,  
share, and per boe amounts) 

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 

FINANCIAL         
Sales of crude oil, natural gas and NGLs 25,758 29,976 24,494 17,234 22,820 19,572 16,853 18,723 
Cash flow from operations (1) 8,309 12,080 9,550 5,165 11,099 8,344 6,973 7,280 

   Per basic and diluted 0.15 0.22 0.18 0.10 0.21 0.15 0.13 0.14 
Cash flow from operating activities  7,765 12,991 9,997 8,762 7,411 6,024 9,367 13,427 
   Per basic and diluted 0.14 0.24 0.19 0.16 0.14 0.11 0.17 0.25 
Net (loss) income  (539) 2,449 643 (3,611) 1,080 (1,540) 1,108 99 
   Per basic and diluted (0.01) 0.05 0.01 (0.07) 0.02 (0.03) 0.02 - 
Capital expenditures 17,440 17,342 5,166 13,611 5,492 15,286 13,885 10,841 
Net acquisitions

 (2) (29) (200) 66 70 1,683 (15) 82 - 

Net debt outstanding
 (1) 67,148 57,615 52,044 56,128 47,926 50,921 44,110 37,655 

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic  
   (thousands) 53,956 53,956 53,956 

 
53,858 

 
53,858 

 
53,858 

 
53,748 

 
53,525 

Weighted average shares outstanding, 
diluted  (thousands) 54,392 53,956 53,956 53,858 53,858 53,858 53,748 53,525 
Shares outstanding, end of period  
   (thousands) 53,956 53,956 53,956 

 
53,858 

 
53,858 

 
53,858 

 
53,780 

 
53,544 

         
OPERATING         
Production         
     Oil and liquids (bbl/d) 4,369 3,652 3,668 3,445 3,753 3,260 2,935 2,653 
     Natural gas (mcf/d) 1,641 1,723 1,672 1,995 1,927 1,803 1,920 2,136 
     Total (boe/d) 4,642 3,940 3,947 3,777 4,073 3,560 3,255 3,008 
Average prices         
     Oil and liquids ($/bbl) 62.91 88.01 71.71 53.77 64.50 64.00 61.86 75.85 
     Natural gas ($/mcf) 3.12 2.53 3.66 3.13 3.13 2.28 1.90 2.14 
     Oil equivalent ($/boe) 60.31 82.70 68.19 50.69 60.89 59.75 56.90 68.40 
Netback ($/boe)         
     Commodity and other sales 60.37 82.77 68.26 50.81 60.93 59.78 56.98 68.48 
     Royalties 15.15 18.59 16.16 10.93 14.66 15.36 11.99 14.41 
     Operating costs 16.72 17.21 19.13 18.81 15.34 17.21 17.56 19.90 
     Operating netback (before hedging) 28.50 46.97 32.98 21.07 30.93 27.22 27.43 34.17 
     Realized risk management gains (losses) (3.53) (8.20) (1.12) (0.57) 3.19 2.82 0.87 (2.26) 
     Operating netback (after hedging) 24.97 38.77 31.86 20.50 34.12 30.03 28.30 31.91 
     General and administrative 4.31 3.68 3.79 3.91 3.40 3.32 3.38 3.83 
     Interest 1.24 1.77 1.48 1.40 1.30 1.25 1.37 1.48 
     Corporate netback 19.42 33.32 26.59 15.19 29.42 25.46 23.55 26.60 

(1) Cash flow from operations and net debt are non-GAAP measures and are reconciled to the nearest GAAP measure under the heading “Non-
GAAP Measures”. 

(2) Net acquisitions exclude non-cash items for decommissioning liability and deferred taxes and is net of post-closing adjustments. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



-25- 

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT 
 
To the Shareholders of Gear Energy Ltd. 

 
Management’s Responsibility on Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the annual Gear Energy Ltd. financial statements. The financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies detailed in the notes thereto. In Management’s 
opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board and include certain estimates that reflect Management’s best judgments. 
 
Management is responsible for the integrity of the financial statements.  Management has developed and maintains an 
adequate system of internal control over financial reporting which provides reasonable assurance that all transactions are 
recorded, that the financial statements realistically report the Company’s operating and financial results, and that the 
Company’s assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use.  Management believes that this system of internal 
controls has operated effectively for the year ended December 31, 2013.  The Company has effective disclosure controls 
and procedures to ensure timely and accurate disclosure of material information relating to the Company which complies 
with the requirements of Canadian securities legislation. 
 
The Board of Directors has approved the information contained in the financial statements. Their financial statement 
related responsibilities are fulfilled mainly through the Audit Committee which is composed entirely of independent 
directors, and includes at least one director with financial expertise. The Audit Committee meets regularly with 
management and the external auditors to discuss reporting issues and ensures each party is properly discharging its 
responsibilities. The Audit Committee also considers the independence of the external auditors and reviews their fees.  
 
The financial statements have been audited by Deloitte LLP, Independent Registered Chartered Accountants, in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards on behalf of the shareholders.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

     
Ingram Gillmore            David Hwang 
President and Chief Executive Officer        Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer  
 
 
 
Calgary, Alberta  
March 4, 2014 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

To the Shareholders of Gear Energy Ltd.: 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Gear Energy Ltd., which comprise the balance 

sheets as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income 

(loss), statements of changes in shareholders’ equity and statements of cash flows for the years then ended, 

and the notes to the financial statements.  

 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditor's Responsibility 

 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 

our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that 

we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of 

the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 

risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation 

of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our audit opinion.  

 

Opinion 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Gear 

Energy Ltd. as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years 

then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

 

 
 

Chartered Accountants 
 

March 4, 2014  
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GEAR ENERGY LTD. 
BALANCE SHEETS  
As at December 31 

 
 
(Cdn$ thousands) 

 
2013  2012 

ASSETS     
Current assets     
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 841 $ - 
 Accounts receivable  9,550  6,137 
 Prepaid expenses  1,210  1,132 
 Inventory (Note 5)  4,465  4,507 

   16,066  11,776 
Deferred income tax asset (Note 12)  12,611  11,755 
Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 6)  3,284  3,284 
Property, plant and equipment (Note 7)  214,641  182,390 

Total assets $ 246,602 $ 209,205 

      
LIABILITIES     
Current liabilities     
 Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and deferred credits $ 18,297 $ 7,019 
 Risk management contracts (Note 10)  2,113  143 
 Debt (Note 8)  64,917  52,683 

   85,327  59,845 
Decommissioning liability (Note 9)  35,113  24,704 

Total liabilities  120,440  84,549 

      
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     
 Shareholders’ capital (Note 11)  166,869  166,624 
 Contributed surplus (Note 11)  9,446  7,126 
 Deficit  (50,153)  (49,094) 

Total shareholders’ equity  126,162  124,656 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 246,602 $ 209,205 

 
See accompanying notes to the Financial Statements  
 
 
GEAR ENERGY LTD. 
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
For the years ended December 31 

 
(Cdn$ thousands) 
 Shares to 

be issued 
Share 
capital 

Contributed 
surplus 

Deficit Total 
Shareholders’

equity 

Balance at December 31, 2011 3,296   162,542         4,509 (49,641) 120,706 

Share-based compensation - - 2,617 - 2,617 
Issued for share awards - 589 - - 589 
Issued under share rights agreement (3,296) 3,493 - - 197 
Income for the year - - - 547 547 

Balance at December 31, 2012 - 166,624 7,126 (49,094) 124,656 

Share-based compensation - - 2,320 - 2,320 
Issued for share awards - 245 - - 245 
Net loss for the year - - - (1,059) (1,059) 

Balance at December 31, 2013 - 166,869 9,446 (50,153) 126,162 

      

See accompanying notes to the Financial Statements      
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GEAR ENERGY LTD. 
STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)  
For the years ended December 31 

   
      
(Cdn$ thousands, except per share amounts)  2013  2012 

      
 Sales of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids $ 97,462 $ 77,968 
 Royalties  (22,726)  (18,020) 
 Other income  115  70 

REVENUE  74,851  60,018 
      
(Loss) gain on risk management contracts (Note 10)  (7,043)  3,115 

   67,808  63,133 

      
EXPENSES     
 Operating  26,641  22,031 
 General and administrative  5,869  4,412 
 Share-based compensation  2,565  3,206 
 Interest and financing charges  2,179  1,707 
 Accretion of decommissioning liability (Note 9)  681  746 
 Depletion, depreciation and amortization (Note 7)  32,027  29,653 
 Exploration and evaluation expense (Note 6)  -  336 
 Gain on asset disposition (Note 6 and 7)  (238)  (2,210) 
 Dilution penalty   -  197 

   69,724  60,078 

      
Deferred tax (recovery) expense (Note 12)  (857)  2,508 

Net (loss) income and comprehensive (loss)  income $ (1,059) $ 547 

      
Net (loss) income per share, basic and diluted (Note 11) $ (0.02) $ 0.01 

      
See accompanying notes to the Financial Statements     
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GEAR ENERGY LTD.     
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS      
For the years ended December 31     
      
      
(Cdn$ thousands)  2013  2012 

      
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Net (loss) income  $ (1,059) $ 547 
Add items not involving cash:     
 Unrealized loss (gain) on risk management contracts       

    (Note 10)  1,972  (1,362) 
 Share-based compensation (Note 11)  2,565  3,206 
 Bad debt expense  12  72 
 Accretion of decommissioning liability   681  746 
 Depletion, depreciation and amortization   32,027  29,653 
 Exploration and evaluation expense  -  336 
 Gain on asset disposition   (238)  (2,210) 
 Deferred tax (recovery) expense   (857)  2,508 
 Dilution penalty   -  197 
Decommissioning liabilities settled (Note 9)  (602)  (778) 
Change in non-cash working capital (Note 15)  5,010  3,311 

   39,511  36,226 

      
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
Borrowings of debt under demand credit facility  12,234  10,873 

  12,234  10,873 

     
CASH FLOW USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
Property, plant and equipment expenditures  (53,664)  (50,365) 
Proceeds on disposition of petroleum and natural gas properties               
    (Note 7 and 8) 

 
200  2,802 

Change in non-cash working capital (Note 15)  2,560  464 

   (50,904)  (47,099) 

     
INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  841  - 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR  -  - 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ 841 $ - 

The following are included in cash flow from operating activities:     
Interest paid in cash $ 2,179 $ 1,707 

     
See accompanying notes to the Financial Statements 
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GEAR ENERGY LTD. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(all tabular amounts in Cdn$ thousands, except per share amounts) 

 
 
1. STRUCTURE OF THE BUSINESS 

 
The principal undertakings of Gear Energy Ltd. (the “Company” or “Gear”) are to carry on the business of acquiring, 
developing and holding interests in petroleum and natural gas properties and assets.  On November 18, 2013 Gear 
commenced trading publically on the Toronto Stock Exchange. 

 
Gear’s principal place of business is located at 2600, 500 – 4

th
 Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta T2P 2V6. 

 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 
These financial statements (the “financial statements”) have been prepared under International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and were prepared using 
accounting policies consistent with IFRS.   
 
A summary of Gear’s significant accounting policies under IFRS is presented in Note 3.  The financial statements 
have been prepared on the historical cost basis with the exception of risk management contracts, which are 
measured at fair value. 

 
 The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 4, 2014. 

 
3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
(a) Revenue recognition  

Revenue associated with the sale of crude oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquids (“NGLs”) owned by Gear is 
recognized when title is transferred from Gear to its customers.  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable.  Revenue from the sale of crude oil, natural gas, and NGLs (prior to 
deduction of transportation costs) is recognized when all of the following conditions have been satisfied:  
 

 Gear has transferred the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods to the buyer;  

 Gear retains no continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership or  

effective control over the goods sold;  

 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;  

 it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to Gear; and  

 the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.  
 
(b) Joint operations 

Some of the Company's petroleum and natural gas exploration activities are conducted jointly with others. These 
financial statements reflect only the Company's proportionate interest in such activities.  Joint control exists for 
contractual arrangements governing Gear’s assets wereby Gear has less than 100 per cent working interest, all 
of the partners have control of the arrangement collectively, and spending on the project requires unanimous 
consent of all parties that collectively control the arrangement and share the associated risks.  Gear does not 
have any joint arrangements that are material to the Company or that are structured through joint venture 
arrangements. 
 

(c) Share-based compensation 
The Company accounts for its share-based compensation plan using the fair value method estimated using the 
Black-Scholes model. Under this method, a compensation expense is charged over the vesting period for stock 
options granted using the graded vesting method with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. Upon 
exercise of the stock options, consideration paid, together with the amount previously recognized in contributed 
surplus is recorded as an increase to share capital. Forfeitures of stock options are estimated on the grant date 
and are adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that vest. 

 
(d) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments that mature within three months of their 
purchase. They are recorded at fair value.   
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(e) Crude oil inventory 
Crude oil inventory consists of amounts produced and in storage tanks and is recorded at the lower of cost, 
determined on a weighted-average basis, and net realizable value.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the normal course of business less applicable selling expenses. 

 
(f) Exploration and Evaluation Assets (“E&E”)  

Costs incurred prior to acquiring the legal right to explore an area are charged directly to net income (loss).  
Costs incurred after the legal right to explore is obtained but before technical feasibility and commercial viability 
of the area has been established are capitalized as E&E assets.  These costs generally include unproved 
property acquisition costs, geological and geophysical costs, sampling and appraisals, drilling and completion 
costs and directly attributable internal costs. 
 
Once an area is determined to be technically feasible and commercially viable the accumulated costs are tested 
for impairment.  The carrying value, net of any impairment, is then reclassified to property plant and equipment 
as a Developed and Producing (D&P) asset.  If an area is determined not to be technically feasible and 
commercially viable, or the Company discontinues its exploration and evaluation activity, any unrecoverable 
costs are charged to net income (loss). 
 

(g) Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) 
Items of PP&E, which include oil and gas development and production assets and administrative assets, are 
measured at cost less accumulated depletion, depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals of properties are determined by comparing the proceeds to the net carrying value 
of the property and are recognized in the statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 
 
Overhead costs which are directly attributable to bringing an asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of use in the manner intended by management are capitalized.  These costs include compensation 
costs paid to internal personnel dedicated to capital projects. 
 

(h)  Depletion and Depreciation 
Development and production assets are componentized into groups of assets with similar useful lives for the 
purposes of performing depletion calculations.  Depletion expense is calculated on the unit-of-production basis 
based on: 

(i) total estimated proved and probable reserves calculated in accordance with Ontario Securities 
Commissions National Instrument 51-101, Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities; 

(ii) total capitalized costs plus estimated future development costs of proved and probable reserves, 
including future estimated asset retirement costs; and 

(iii) relative volumes of petroleum and natural gas reserves and production, before royalties, converted 
at the energy equivalent conversion ratio of six thousand cubic feet of natural gas to one barrel of 
oil. 

  
E&E assets are not depleted. 
 
Administrative assets are depreciated using the declining balance method over the useful lives of the assets. 
 

(i)  Impairment 
 
Development and Production Assets 
Development and production assets are aggregated into cash-generating units (CGUs) for the purposes of 
impairment testing and depletion calculations.  CGUs are groups of assets that generate independent cash 
inflows and are generally defined based on geographic areas, with consideration given to how the assets are 
managed. 
 
Development and production assets are reviewed for impairment at a CGU level when indicators of impairment 
exist.  When indicators of impairment exist, the carrying value of each CGU is compared to its recoverable 
amount which is defined as the higher of its fair value less cost to sell or its value in use. 
 
When the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount an impairment loss exists and is recognized in the 
statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).  
 
Reversals of impairments are recognized when events or circumstances that triggered the original impairment 
have changed.  Impairments can only be reversed in future periods up to the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depletion and depreciation, had no impairment losses been previously recognized. 
 
E&E and Administrative Assets 
E&E and administrative assets are assessed for impairment at the operating segment level.  Impairment tests 
are carried out when E&E assets are transferred to development and production assets following the declaration 
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of commercial reserves, and any time that circumstances arise which could indicate a potential impairment.  An 
impairment is recognized if the total carrying values of E&E assets and administrative assets exceed the 
aggregate impairment cushions calculated for Gear’s CGU’s and is applied to reduce the carrying amount of 
E&E and administrative assets on a pro-rata basis. 
 
If E&E and administrative assets are subject to impairment testing in the same period in which there is an 
indication of impairment in one of Gear’s CGU’s, that CGU is first tested for impairment and any resulting 
impairment loss is recorded prior to conducting impairment tests on assets at the operating segment level. 
 
 

(j) Financial Instruments 
(i)  Non-derivative financial instruments 

All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the balance sheet. The Company has made 
the following classifications: 

i) Cash and cash equivalents are classified as fair value through profit and loss financial assets 
and are measured at fair value. Gains and losses from revaluation are recognized in the 
statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 

ii) Accounts receivable is classified as loans and receivables and accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities and debt are classified as other liabilities. These classifications are initially measured 
at fair value. Subsequent revaluations are recorded at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method.  

The carrying value approximates fair value due to the short term nature of these instruments.  
 

(ii)  Risk Management Contracts 
Gear enters into risk management contracts in order to manage its exposure to market risks from 
fluctuations in commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and interest rates in the normal course of 
operations.  Gear has not designated its risk management contracts as effective hedges, and thus has not 
applied hedge accounting, even though it considers most of these contracts to be economic hedges.  As a 
result, all risk management contracts are classified as fair value through profit or loss and are recorded at 
fair value on the balance sheet with changes in fair value recorded in the statement of income (loss) and 
comprehensive income (loss).  The fair values of these derivative instruments are generally based on an 
estimate of the amounts that would be paid or received to settle these instruments at the balance sheet 
date. 

 
(k) Deferred Credits 

Under certain marketing arrangements Gear is paid a deposit on revenue prior to meeting its revenue recognition    
criteria discussed in (a) above.  These amounts are included as a deferred credit on the balance sheet until such 
time when revenue recognition criteria are met, then the amounts are recognized as revenue. 

 
(l)    Decommissioning Liabilities 

Gear’s oil and gas operating activities give rise to dismantling, decommissioning and site remediation activities.  
Gear recognizes a liability for the estimated present value of the future decommissioning liabilities at each 
balance sheet date using a risk free discount rate.  The associated decommissioning cost is capitalized and 
amortized over the same period as the underlying asset.  Changes in the estimated liability resulting from 
revisions to estimated timing, amount of cash flows, or changes in the discount rate are recognized as a change 
in the decommissioning liability and related capitalized decommissioning cost. 
 
Amortization of capitalized decommissioning costs is included in depreciation, depletion and amortization in net 
income (loss).  Increases in decommissioning liabilities resulting from the passage of time are recorded as 
accretion.  Actual expenditures incurred are charged against the decommissioning liability. 

 
(m) Deferred income taxes 

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes.  Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences 
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting dates.   
 
Deferred tax is recognized in statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.  Deferred tax assets 
are only recognized for temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits if it is probable that 
future tax amounts will arise to utilize those amounts. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset, and they relate to 
income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized 
simultaneously. 
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(n)  Per Share Amounts 
Basic per share amounts are computed by dividing net income or loss by the weighted average number of    
common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted per share amounts reflect the potential dilution that would   
occur if dilutive instruments were exercised and common shares issued. 

 
(o)  New Accounting Policies 
 
Future Accounting Policy Changes 
In May 2013, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 36 "Impairment of Assets" which reduce the circumstances in 
which the recoverable amount of CGUs is required to be disclosed and clarify the disclosures required when an 
impairment loss has been recognized or reversed in the period. The amendments are required to be adopted 
retrospectively for fiscal years beginning January 1, 2014, with earlier adoption permitted. These amendments will be 
applied by Gear on January 1, 2014 and the adoption will only impact Gear disclosures in the notes to the financial 
statements in periods when an impairment loss or impairment reversal is recognized. 

 
In May 2013, the IASB issued IFRIC 21 "Levies," which was developed by the IFRS Interpretations Committee 
("IFRIC"). IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers payment, as 
identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. The interpretation also clarifies that no liability should be recognized 
before the specified minimum threshold to trigger that levy is reached. IFRIC 21 is required to be adopted 
retrospectively for fiscal years beginning January 1, 2014, with earlier adoption permitted. IFRIC 21 will be applied by 
Gear on January 1, 2014 and the adoption may have an impact on Gear’s accounting for production and similar 
taxes, which do not meet the definition of an income tax in IAS 12 "Income Taxes." Gear is currently assessing and 
quantifying the effect on its financial statements. 

 
The IASB has undertaken a three-phase project to replace IAS 39 "Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement" with IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments." In November 2009, the IASB issued the first phase of IFRS 9, 
which details the classification and measurement requirements for financial assets. Requirements for financial 
liabilities were added to the standard in October 2010. The new standard replaces the current multiple classification 
and measurement models for financial assets and liabilities with a single model that has only two classification 
categories: amortized cost and fair value. 

 
In November 2013, the IASB issued the third phase of IFRS 9 which details the new general hedge accounting 
model. Hedge accounting remains optional and the new model is intended to allow reporters to better reflect risk 
management activities in the financial statements and provide more opportunities to apply hedge accounting. Gear 
does not employ hedge accounting for its risk management contracts currently in place. In July 2013, the IASB 
deferred the mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 and has left this date open pending the finalization of the impairment 
and classification and measurement requirements. IFRS 9 is still available for early adoption. The full impact of the 
standard on Gear’s financial statements will not be known until the project is complete. 

 
Changes in Accounting Policies 
As of January 1, 2013, the Company adopted several new IFRS standards and amendments in accordance with the 
transitional provisions of each standard. A brief description of each new standard and its impact on the Company's 
financial statements follows below: 

 
• IFRS 11 "Joint Arrangements" divides joint arrangements into two types, joint operations and joint ventures, each 

with their own accounting model. All joint arrangements are required to be reassessed on transition to IFRS 11 to 
determine their type to apply the appropriate accounting. The retrospective adoption of this standard does not 
have any impact on Gear’s financial statements. 
 

• IFRS 12 "Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities" combines in a single standard the disclosure requirements for 
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements, as well as unconsolidated structured entities. The retrospective 
adoption of the annual disclosure requirements of this standard does not have a material impact on Gear’s 
annual financial statements. 
 

• IFRS 13 "Fair Value Measurement" defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and sets 
out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. This standard defines fair value as the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date. The adoption of this standard requires the revaluation of certain derivative financial 
liabilities on Gear’s consolidated balance sheets to reflect an appropriate amount of risk of non-performance by 
Gear. The standard also requires additional annual fair value disclosures, as well as additional interim 
disclosures, as per IAS 34. The prospective adoption of this standard does not have a material impact on Gear’s 
financial statements. 
 

• IAS 19 "Employee Benefits" has been amended to revise the recognition, presentation and disclosure 
requirements for defined benefit plans. The retrospective adoption of these amendments does not have any 
impact on Gear’s financial statements. 
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• IAS 27 "Separate Financial Statements" has been amended as a result of changes to IFRS 10. The 
retrospective adoption of these amendments does not have any impact on Gear’s financial statements. 

 
• IAS 28 "Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures" has been amended as a result of changes to IFRS 10 

and IFRS 11. The retrospective adoption of these amendments does not have any impact on Gear’s financial 
statements. 

 
• The amendments to IAS 32 "Financial Instruments: Presentation" clarify the current requirements for offsetting 

financial instruments. The amendments to IFRS 7 "Financial Instruments: Disclosures" develop common 
disclosure requirements for financial assets and financial liabilities that are offset in the financial statements, or 
that are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements. The Company retrospectively 
adopted the amendments to both standards on January 1, 2013. The application of these amendments does not 
have any impact on Gear’s financial statements. 

   
 
4. MANAGEMENT JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY  

 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and 
revenues and expenses during the reporting year. Actual results could differ from those estimated. The key sources 
of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities are discussed below.  
 
Recoverability of asset carrying values  

The recoverability of development and production asset carrying values is assessed at the CGU level. Determination 
of what constitutes a CGU is subject to management judgments. The asset composition of a CGU can directly impact 
the recoverability of the assets included therein. In assessing the recoverability of oil and gas properties, each CGU’s 
carrying value is compared to its recoverable amount, defined as the greater of its fair value less cost to sell and 
value in use.  

 
At December 31, 2013 and 2012 the recoverable amounts of Gear’s CGUs were estimated as their fair value less 
cost to sell based on the following information:  
 

i) the net present value of the after-tax cash flows from oil and gas reserves of each CGU based on reserves 
estimated by Gear’s independent reserve evaluator; and  

ii) the fair value of undeveloped land based on internal estimates using recent land transactions as a proxy.  
 

Consideration was also given to acquisition metrics of recent transactions completed on similar assets to those 
contained within the CGU. 
 
Key input estimates used in the determination of cash flows from oil and gas reserves include the following: 
  

i) Reserves. Assumptions that are valid at the time of reserve estimation may change significantly when new 
information becomes available. Changes in forward price estimates, production costs or recovery rates may 
change the economic status of reserves and may ultimately result in reserves being restated.  

ii) Oil and natural gas prices. Forward price estimates of the oil and natural gas prices are used in the cash flow 
model. Commodity prices have fluctuated widely in recent years due to global and regional factors including 
supply and demand fundamentals, inventory levels, exchange rates, weather, economic and geopolitical factors.  

iii) Discount rate. The discount rate used to calculate the net present value of cash flows is based on estimates of 
an approximate industry peer group weighted average cost of capital. Changes in the general economic 
environment could result in significant changes to this estimate.  

 
Depletion of oil and gas assets  

Depletion of oil and gas assets is determined based on total proved and probable reserve values as well as future 
development costs as estimated by Gear’s external reserve evaluator. See (i) above for discussion of estimates and 
judgments involved in reserve estimation.  

 
Decommissioning liability 

The provision for abandonment and reclamation is based on current legal and constructive requirements, technology, 
price levels and expected plans for remediation. Actual costs and cash outflows can differ from estimates because of 
changes in laws and regulations, public expectations, market conditions, discovery and analysis of site conditions and 
changes in technology.  
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Derivative Instruments 

The estimated fair value of derivative instruments resulting in financial assets and liabilities is reliant upon forward 
commodity prices.  Any change in the forward commodity price curves could result in a change to the estimated 
valuation of the instrument. 
 
Employee Compensation Costs 

Compensation expense recorded for Gear’s stock option plan is based on a Black-Scholes pricing model. The inputs 
to this model such as average expected volatility and estimated forfeiture rates rely on management judgment.  

 
5. INVENTORY 

At December 31, 2013 Gear recorded oil inventory valued at its production cost of $4,465 thousand.  The cost 
components of the inventory balance are as follows: 

 
($ thousands) Year ended December 31, 2013 Year ended December 31, 2012 

Capital  1,823 2,069 
Operating 2,642 2,438 

Balance, end of year 4,465 4,507 

 
 
6.     EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 
 

Cost ($ thousands) E&E Assets 

Balance, December 31, 2011  4,007 
     Dispositions  (387) 
     Exploration and evaluation expense  (336) 

Balance, December 31, 2012 and 2013  3,284 

 

Exploration and evaluation assets consist of the Company’s exploration projects which are pending economic 
production.  Additions represent the Company’s share of costs incurred on the E&E assets during the year.  During 
the year ended December 31, 2013 no exploration expense was recognized (December 31, 2012 - $336 thousand). 
 
During 2012 Gear disposed of E&E assets for proceeds of $2.2 million resulting in a gain of $1.9 million.  No 
dispositions were made in 2013. 

 
7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
 

 The following table reconciles Gear’s property, plant and equipment: 
 

Cost 

($ thousands) 

Development and 
Production Assets 

Administrative 
Assets 

Total 

Balance December 31, 2011  242,224 230 242,454 
     Additions  50,385 43 50,428 
     Change in decommissioning costs  (5,421) - (5,421) 
     Dispositions  (259) (31) (290) 

Balance, December 31, 2012  286,929 242 287,171 
     Additions  53,603 61 53,664 
     Change in decommissioning costs  10,368 - 10,368 

Balance, December 31, 2013  350,900 303 351,203 

 
Depletion, depreciation and amortization    

Balance, December 31, 2011  74,444 128 74,572 
     Depletion, depreciation and amortization  30,193 38 30,231 
     Dispositions  (22) - (22) 

Balance, December 31, 2012  104,615 166 104,781 
     Depletion, depreciation and amortization  31,743 38 31,781 

Balance, December 31, 2013  136,358 204 136,562 

  

Carrying amounts  

($ thousands) 

Development and 
Production Assets 

Administrative 
Assets 

Total 

As at December 31, 2012 182,314 76 182,390 
As at December 31, 2013 214,542 99 214,641 

 
Impairment tests were carried out at December 31, 2013 and 2012, were based on fair value less costs to sell 
calculations, using an appropriate discount rate and the following forward commodity price estimates:  
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As at December 31, 2013: 
 

Year Western Canadian 
Select Oil 

(CAD$/bbl)  

AECO Gas 
(Cdn$/mmbtu)  

Cdn$/US$ 
Exchange Rates  

2014 75.60 4.03 1.052 
2015 79.36 4.26 1.052 
2016 81.50 4.50 1.052 
2017 81.50 4.74 1.052 
2018 81.50 4.97 1.052 
2019 81.50 5.21 1.052 
2020 82.13 5.33 1.052 
2021 83.76 5.44 1.052 
2022 85.44 5.55 1.052 
2023 87.14 5.66  

Remainder 
(1)

 2.0% 2.0% 1.052 

 
(1) Percentage change represents the change in each subsequent year to the end of the reserve life. 
 
No impairment charges were recorded for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.   
 
During the third quarter of 2013 Gear disposed of a single suspended wellbore for proceeds of $200 thousand.  This 
asset had a carrying value of zero recorded under property, plant and equipment and an abandonment liability of $38 
thousand and as such a gain of $238 thousand was recorded with respect to this transaction.   
 
During 2012 Gear disposed of development and production and administrative assets for proceeds of $0.6 million 
resulting in a gain of $0.3 million.   
 

8. DEBT 
 

In April 2013, Gear entered into syndicated demand facilities (“the Facilities”) with two banks with a borrowing limit on 
the Facilities of $75 million.  The Facilities bear interest at Canadian bank prime or, at Gear’s option, Canadian 
bankers’ acceptances, plus applicable margin and stamping fee.  The total stamping fees range, depending on Gears 
debt to cash flow ratio, between 50 bps to 250 bps on Canadian bank prime borrowings and between 175 bps and 
375 bps on Canadian dollar bankers’ acceptances.  The undrawn portion of the Facilities are subject to a standby fee 
in the range of 20 bps to 45 bps.  The Facilities carry a single financial covenant to maintain a working capital ratio of 
not less than 1.0:1, see Note 14 for further details on covenant calcuation.  At December 31, 2013 Gear was in 
compliance with this covenant.  The Facilities are secured by a fixed and floating charge on the assets of Gear and 
are subject to regular reviews.  The next scheduled review is to be complete by June 1, 2014.  
 
As at December 31,  2013 Gear had $64.9 million drawn (December 31, 2012 – $52.7 million) and had outstanding 
letters of credit of $2.6 million (December 31, 2012 - $0.8 million).  
 

 
9. DECOMMISSIONING LIABILITY 

 

 
($thousands) 

Year Ended   
December 31, 2013 

Year Ended 
December 31, 2012 

Balance, beginning of year  24,704  30,157 
Changes in estimates  8,864  (10,767) 
Additions  1,504  5,473 
Dispositions  (38)  (127) 
Decommissioning liabilities settled  (602)  (778) 
Accretion  681  746 

Balance, end of year  35,113  24,704 

 

The undiscounted and unescalated amount of the expected cash flows required to settle the decommissioning liability 
is estimated to be $43.5 million as at December 31, 2013 (December 31, 2012 - $26 million).  The liability for the 
expected cash flows, as reflected in the financial statements, has been inflated at two per cent and discounted using 
a risk free rate of 3.13 per cent (December 31, 2012 – 2.26 per cent). Abandonments are expected to occur between 
2014 and 2033 and related costs will be funded mainly from Gear's cash provided by operating activities.   
 

10. RISK MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS 
 

Gear uses or plans to use a variety of derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to fluctuations in commodity 
prices, foreign exchange rates, and interest rates.  Gear considers all of these present and future transactions to be 
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effective economic hedges; however, Gear’s current contract and future contracts thereafter may not qualify as 
effective hedges for accounting purposes. 
 
Following is a summary of all risk management contracts in place as at December 31, 2013: 
 

Financial WTI Crude Oil Contracts 

Term Contract Volume Sold Swap Sold Put 
   bbl/d CAD/bbl CAD/bbl 

Jan 1, 2014  June 30, 2014 3-way enhanced swap 1,800 98.02 75.00 
July 1, 2014 Dec 31, 2014 3-way enhanced swap 1,000 99.81 75.00 

 
As at December 31, 2013, the fair value associated with Gear’s risk management contracts was a liability of $2,113 
thousand ($143 thousand liability at December 31, 2012).   
 
The following table reconciles the (loss) gain on risk management contracts: 
 

($ thousands) Year ended 
December 31, 2013 

Year ended 
December 31, 2012 

Realized cash (loss) gain on risk management contracts (5,071) 1,753 
Unrealized cash (loss) gain on risk management contracts (1,972) 1,362 

Total (loss) gain on risk management contracts (7,043) 3,115 

 
 
11. SHAREHOLDERS’ CAPITAL 
 
a) Share Capital 

(thousands of shares) Year Ended 
December 31, 2013 

Year Ended  
December 31, 2012 

 Shares  Amount Shares  Amount 

Balance, beginning of year 53,838 $ 166,624 52,665 $ 162,542 
Issued under share rights agreement

 
-  - 957  3,493 

Issued to employees for share award 98  245 236  589 

Balance, end of year 53,936 $ 166,869 53,858 $ 166,624 

 
 
b) Stock Options 

 

Gear has a stock option plan under which employees, directors and consultants are eligible to receive grants.  Under 
the plan, options may be granted to purchase up to 10% of the outstanding shares of Gear and the maximum term of 
options granted is five years.  Unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors at the time of grant, options 
vest as to one-third on each of the first, second and third anniversary dates of the date of grant.  The following table 
summarizes Gear’s stock option plan during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. 
 

 Year Ended 
December 31, 2013 

Year Ended 
December 31, 2012 

 
 
(thousands) 

Number of 
stock options  

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
Number of 

stock options  

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

Outstanding, beginning of year 4,194 $ 3.31 3,857 $ 3.43 
Cancelled (2,725)  3.75 -  - 
Granted 3,050  2.53 474  2.50 
Exercised -  - -  - 
Forfeited (209)  2.50 (137)  3.75 

Outstanding, end of year 4,310  2.52 4,194  3.31 

Exercisable, end of year 1,005 $ 2.51 1,957 $ 3.31 

 
During 2013, Gear has recorded an expense of $2,320 thousand (2012 - $2,617 thousand) to share-based 
compensation expense recognizing the stock option activity for the period based on the fair value of options issued 
amortized using a graded vesting calculation. 
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The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was used to determine the fair value of stock options granted using the 
following assumptions:  
 

 Year ended December 31, 

 2013 2012 

Risk free interest rate (%) 1.44 2.14 
Dividend yield (%) - - 
Average expected life (years) 5.0 3.0 
Average expected volatility (%) 30.0 75.0 
Forfeiture rate (%) 5.0 20.0 

 
 

c) Contributed surplus 
 

($ thousands) Year ended December 31, 
2013 

Year ended December 31, 
2012 

Balance, beginning of year 7,126 4,509 
Stock option plan share-based compensation 2,320 2,617 

Balance, end of year 9,446 7,126 

 
  
d) Weighted average common shares 
 

($ thousands) Year ended December 31, 
2013 

Year ended December 31, 
2012 

Basic 53,932 53,748 
Dilutes 54,158 53,748 

 
 
12. INCOME TAXES 
 

The tax provision differs from the amount computed by applying the combined Canadian federal and provincial 
statutory income tax rates to loss before deferred income tax expense as follows: 
 

($ thousands) December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012 

(Loss) Income before income taxes (1,916) 3,055 

Canadian statutory rate 
(1)

 25.0% 25.0% 

Expected income tax recovery at statutory rates (479) 764 
Effect on income tax of:   
    Change in estimated pool balances (1,020) 971 
    Dilution penalty - 49 
    Shared-based compensation 642 801 
    Other - (77) 

Deferred income tax expense (recovery) (857) 2,508 

(1) The statutory rate consists of the combined statutory tax rate for Gear.   

 
 

($ thousands) December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012 

Deferred tax assets   
   Decommissioning liability 8,778 6,176 
   Tax value in excess of capital assets  - 915 
   Non-capital losses carry forward 9,116 4,092 
   Risk management contracts 528 35 
   Financing fees 535 537 
   
Deferred tax liabilities   
Capital assets in excess of tax value (6,346) - 

Deferred income tax asset 12,611 11,755 

 
The petroleum and natural gas properties and facilities owned by Gear have an approximate tax basis of $231.1 
million ($207.8 million in 2012) available for future use as deductions from taxable income.  Included in this tax basis 
are estimated non-capital loss carry forwards that expire in the years 2027 through 2030.   
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The following is a summary of the estimated Gear tax pools: 
 

($ thousands) December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012 

Canadian oil and gas property expenses 80,038 85,978 
Canadian development expenses 56,099 43,362 
Canadian exploration expenses 13,452 13,953 
Undepreciated capital cost 42,951 45,971 
Non-capital losses 36,464 16,369 
Other 2,141 2,149 

Estimated tax pools, federal and provincial 231,145 207,782 

 
  
 
13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
Classification and Measurement 

Gear’s financial instruments on the Balance Sheet are carried at amortized cost with the exception of cash and cash 
equivalents and risk management contracts, which are carried at fair value.  As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, no 
significant differences existed between the carrying value of financial instruments and their estimated fair values  

 
All of Gear’s cash and risk management contracts are transacted in active markets. Gear classifies the fair value of 
these transactions according to the following hierarchy based on the amount of observable inputs used to value the 
instrument.  
 

 Level 1 – Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the 
reporting date. Active markets are those in which transactions occur in sufficient frequency and volume 
to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  

 Level 2 – Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1. Prices in 
Level 2 are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date. Level 2 valuations are based 
on inputs, including quoted forward prices for commodities, time value and volatility factors, which can 
be substantially observed or corroborated in the marketplace.  

 Level 3 – Valuations in this level are those with inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data.  

 
Gear’s cash and cash equivalents and risk management contracts have been assessed on the fair value hierarchy 
described above. Gear’s cash is classified as Level 1 and risk management contracts as Level 2. Assessment of the 
significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect the placement 
within the fair value hierarchy level. 
 
Market Risk Management 

Gear is exposed to a number of different financial risks arising from normal course business exposures, as well as 
the Company’s use of financial instruments. These risk factors include market risks relating to commodity prices, 
foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, as well as liquidity risk and credit risk. There have been no changes in the 
Company’s objectives, policies or risks surrounding financial instruments. 
 
Market risk is the risk or uncertainty arising from possible market price movements and their impact on the future 
performance of the business. The market price movements that could adversely affect the value of the Company’s 
financial assets, liabilities and expected future cash flows include commodity price risk (crude oil and natural gas), 
and foreign currency exchange risk. 
 
(a)  Commodity price and foreign currency exchange risk 

Gear is subject to commodity price risk on the delivery of crude oil, and to a lesser extent, natural gas.  These 
prices have a significant impact on its financial condition and can be subject to volatility as a result of a number 
of different external factors.  North American crude oil and natural gas prices are based upon US dollar 
denominated commodity prices.  As a result, the price received by Canadian producers is affected by the 
Canadian/US dollar exchange rate. Gear manages the risks associated with changes in commodity prices and 
foreign currency exchange by entering into a variety of risk management contracts (see Note 10). 
 
The following table illustrates the effects of movement in commodity prices on net income due to changes in the 
fair value of risk management contracts in place at December 31, 2013. The sensitivity is based on a 10 per cent 
increase and 10 per cent decrease in the price of WTI. The commodity price assumptions are based on 
management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in oil and natural gas prices that could occur in the 
future. 
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Sensitivity of Commodity Price Risk management Contracts as at December 31, 2013 

($ thousands) 

 10% Decrease in WTI 10% Increase in WTI 

Net income increase (decrease) 5,174 (5,174) 

 
 The sensitivities are hypothetical and based on management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in 

commodity prices after the balance sheet date. The results of the sensitivity should not be considered to be 
predictive of future performance. Changes in the fair value of risk management contracts cannot generally be 
extrapolated because the relationship of change in certain variables to a change in fair value may not be linear. 
 

(b) Interest Rate Risk 

Gear has variable interest rates on all of its debt instruments, therefore, changes in interest rates could result in 
an increase or decrease in the amount Gear pays to service its debt.  Gear had no risk management contracts 
that would be affected by interest rates in place at December 31, 2013. 

 
(c) Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities. The Company believes that it has access to sufficient capital through internally generated cash flows 
and external sources (bank credit markets and equity financing) to meet current spending forecasts. All the 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities are due in one year and all debt is due on demand. 
  

(d) Credit Risk 
Gear is or may be exposed to third party credit risk through its contractual arrangements with its current or future 
joint venture partners, marketers of petroleum and natural gas and other parties.  In the event such entities fail to 
meet their contractual obligations to Gear, such failures could have a material adverse effect.  The Company 
manages the risk by reviewing the credit risk of these entities and by entering agreements only with parties that 
meet certain credit tests.  The maximum credit risk that the Company is exposed to is the carrying value of cash 
and cash equivalents and accounts receivable.   
 
The majority of the credit exposure on accounts receivable at December 31, 2013 pertains to accrued revenue 
for December 2013 production volumes.  Gear transacts with a number of oil and natural gas marketing 
companies.  Marketing companies typically remit amounts to Gear by the 25

th
 day of the month following 

production.  A significant portion of Gear’s accounts receivable is carried by two marketing companies, with 45 
per cent of outstanding accounts receivable at December 31, 2013 derived from Company A and 31 per cent of 
accounts receivable outstanding at December 31, 2013 from Company B.  Gear did not have any other 
customers from which it had outstanding accounts receivable greater than 10 per of the total outstanding balance 
at December 31, 2013. 
 
When determining whether amounts that are past due are collectable, management assesses the credit 
worthiness and past payment history of the counterparty, as well as the nature of the past due amount.  Gear 
considers all amounts greater than 90 days to be past due.  At December 31, 2013 management determined $12 
thousand of accounts receivable past due to be uncollectable and as such booked an allowance for these 
amounts ($72 thousand in 2012). 
 

 
14. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 
Gear’s capital management objective is to maintain a structure that will allow it to: 

 Fund its development, exploration program and long-term enhanced oil recovery project; 

 Provide financial flexibility to execute on strategic opportunities; 

 Weather periods of low commodity prices in light of changes in economic conditions. 
 
Gear considers its capital structure to include shareholders’ equity and net debt, which includes debt and working 
capital.  As at December 31, these values are as follows: 
 

($ thousands) December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012 

Debt 64,917 52,683 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 18,297 7,019 
Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid  
   expenses, and inventory 

 
(16,066) 

 
(11,776) 

Net debt obligations 
(1)

 67,148 47,926 
Shareholders’ equity 126,162 124,656 

Total capital 193,310 172,582 

(1) Net debt obligations exclude current unrealized amounts pertaining to risk management contracts. 

 
Gear’s objective is to limit net debt at two times cash flow from operating activities excluding settlement of 
decommissioning liabilities and changes in non-cash working capital.  At certain times, this ratio may be exceeded as 



-41- 

a result of strategic acquisitions or low commodity prices.  Gear manages its capital structure and makes adjustments 
to it in response to changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its underlying assets.  This is 
achieved by issuing new shares or adjusting its net debt position through capital expenditures.  For 2013, Gear’s net 
debt to cash flow from operating activities excluding settlement of decommissioning liabilities and changes in non-
cash working capital is 1.9 (2012 - 1.4). 
 
In addition to internal capital management, Gear’s credit facility contains a financial covenant to maintain a working 
capital ratio of not less than 1.0:1.  Working Capital ratio is defined by the credit facility agreement as current assets 
plus the undrawn portion of the revolving operating loan facility less the fair value of commodity price contracts, 
compared to current liabilities less outstanding bank debt less the fair value of commodity price contracts.  As at 
December 31, 2013, Gear was in compliance with this financial covenant. 
 
There has been no change in Gear’s capital management objectives during the year ended December 31, 2013. 
 

 
15. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

 
Cash Flow Statement Presentation 

The following table provides a detailed breakdown of the changes in non-cash working capital within cash flow from 
operating activities: 
 

 
($ thousands) 

Year Ended 
December 31, 2013 

Year Ended 
December 31, 2012 

Accounts receivable (3,425) 1,637 
Prepaid expenses (78) 188 
Inventory (205) 255 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11,278 1,695 

Total 7,570 3,775 
   
Operating Activities 5,010 3,311 
Investing Activities 2,560 464 

Total 7,570 3,775 

 
 
16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
Following are summaries of Gear’s contractual obligations and commitments as at December 31, 2013: 
 

As at December 31, 2013 Payments due by period 

($ thousands) 2014 2015 2016 Total 

Office lease 
(1)

 311 312 159 782 

Purchase commitments 3,779 3,779 3,779 11,337 

Total contractual obligations 4,090 4,091 3,938 12,119 

 (1)  Excludes estimate of occupancy costs. 
 

Gear enters into commitments for capital expenditures in advance of the expenditures being made.  At a given point 
in time, it is estimated that Gear has committed to capital expenditures equal to approximately one quarter of its 
capital budget by means of giving the necessary authorizations to incur the expenditures in a future period.   
 
Gear is involved in litigation and claims arising in the normal course of operations. Management is of the opinion that 
pending litigation will not have a material impact on Gear’s financial position or results of operations. 
 

 
17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
  

Key Management Personnel Compensation 

Gear has determined that the key management personnel of the Company consists of its officers and directors.  In 
addition to the salaries paid to officers, Gear also provides compensation through participation in Gear’s stock option 
plan.  The compensation included in general and administrative expenses relating to key management personnel for 
the year was $1,465 thousand (2012 - $1,377 thousand). 
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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION AND STATEMENTS 

  
This annual report contains certain forward-looking information and statements within the meaning of applicable securities 
laws. The use of any of the words "expect", "anticipate", "continue", "estimate", "objective", "ongoing", "may", "will", 
"project", "should", "believe", "plans", "intends", "strategy" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking 
information or statements. In particular, but without limiting the foregoing, this fourth quarter report contains forward-
looking information and statements pertaining to the following: the 2014 Guidance estimates, number of future drilling 
locations, Maidstone production profile, credit facility increase, 2014 first quarter pricing, 2014 royalty rate expectations, 
planned number of 2014 gross and net wells drilled, future operating costs to trend upwards, annualized borrowing costs 
to remain unchanged, net debt to cash flow to remain unchanged, financing sources for future capital drilling, Gear’s 
estimates of normal course obligations, and a number of other matters, including the amount of future decommissioning 
costs; future liquidity and financial capacity; future results from operations and operating metrics; future costs, expenses 
and royalty rates; future interest costs; and future development, exploration, acquisition and development activities 
(including drilling plans) and related capital expenditures.  
 
The forward-looking information and statements contained in this annual report reflect several material factors and 
expectations and assumptions of Gear including, without limitation: that Gear will continue to conduct its operations in a 
manner consistent with past operations; the general continuance of current industry conditions; the continuance of 
existing (and in certain circumstances, the implementation of proposed) tax, royalty and regulatory regimes; the accuracy 
of the estimates of Gear’s reserves and resource volumes; certain commodity price and other cost assumptions; and the 
continued availability of adequate debt and equity financing and cash flow from operations to fund its planned 
expenditures. Gear believes the material factors, expectations and assumptions reflected in the forward-looking 
information and statements are reasonable but no assurance can be given that these factors, expectations and 
assumptions will prove to be correct.  
 
The forward-looking information and statements included in this fourth quarter report are not guarantees of future 
performance and should not be unduly relied upon. Such information and statements involve known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such 
forward-looking information or statements including, without limitation: changes in commodity prices; changes in the 
demand for or supply of Gear’s products; unanticipated operating results or production declines; changes in tax or 
environmental laws, royalty rates or other regulatory matters; changes in development plans of Gear or by third party 
operators of Gear’s properties, increased debt levels or debt service requirements; inaccurate estimation of Gear’s oil and 
gas reserve and resource volumes; limited, unfavorable or a lack of access to capital markets; increased costs; a lack of 
adequate insurance coverage; the impact of competitors; and certain other risks detailed from time to time in Gear’s public 
documents.  
 
The forward-looking information and statements contained in this annual report speak only as of the date of this annual 
report, and Gear does not assume any obligation to publicly update or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances, 
except as may be required pursuant to applicable laws. 
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